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AWARD
Varitronix received the HSBC Living Business Award 
in 2012 in two categories, namely, the Community 
Engagement Award (Certificate of Merit) and the 
Green Achievement Award (Certificate of Excellence).

The HSBC Living Business Awards is an annual 
award scheme organised by HSBC and supported by 
the Business Environment Council, The Hong Kong 
Council of Social Service and the Hong Kong Institute 
of Human Resource Management. It recognises small 
to medium enterprises which manage their business 
responsibly and sensitively with regard to people, the 
community and the environment to ensure long-term 
business success. 
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CHAIRMAn’s stAteMent

On behalf of Varitronix International 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(“Varitronix” or the “Group”), I present 
the Group’s results for the year ended 
31 December 2012.

During the year under review, turnover of HK$2,222 
million was recorded, representing an increase of 4% 
as compared to HK$2,131 million in 2011. EBITDA 
was HK$279 million, around 4% lower than the 
HK$292 million recorded in the previous year. Profit 
attributable to shareholders was HK$171 million, 
compared to HK$168 million in 2011.

Turnover for 2012 can be assessed in two stages with 
differing trends. In the first half of the year, the business 
progress was slow and this cast a negative impact 
on the financial performance, while in the second half 
of 2012, production orders increased and helped us 
to achieve a higher total turnover than in 2011. In 
terms of geographical allocation, Europe contributed 
around 39%, the PRC and Hong Kong came second, 
contributing around 30%. The remaining portion was 
generated from a combination of the America and 
other regions.

As at 31 December 2012, the cash balance of the 
Group was HK$464 million, increased 19% from 
HK$391 million at the end of 2011.

FInAnCIAl HIgHlIgHts

HK$ million 2012 2011

Turnover 2,222 2,131

EBITDA 279 292

Profit attributable to shareholders 171 168

Cash balance 464 391

Basic earnings per share 52.7 HK cents 51.9 HK cents

Total dividend per share 28.0 HK cents 26.5 HK cents

DIvIDenDs
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has recommended 
a final dividend of 20.0 HK cents per share (2011: 
15.5 HK cents). Together with the interim dividend of 
8.0 HK cents (2011: 11.0 HK cents), the total dividend 
for 2012 amounted to 28.0 HK cents per share (2011: 
26.5 HK cents), representing a dividend payout ratio 
of 53% (2011: 51%).

This year’s level of dividend payment reflects our 
strong cash flow position. Capital investment in new 
plant construction in 2012 notwithstanding, the 
dividend payout ratio increased compared to last year.

BusIness RevIeW
Automotive Display Business
Revenue from the Group’s automotive display 
business was HK$1,404 million, representing an 
increase of 16% as compared to 2011. The automotive 
display business generated 63% of the Group’s total 
turnover. Europe is still the largest automotive display 
market for the Group.

Turnover from the automotive display business 
increased markedly in the second half of 2012 as 
compared to the first half of the year. As well as orders 
from the European region, there were additional 
increases in orders from Korea, the United States and 
some developing regions such as Brazil and India.
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The automotive display business in South Korea 
experienced a drop in 2011 under intensified 
competition. However, the situation improved and 
we managed to regain a slight growth in business 
in 2012. This was mainly attributable to improved 
product quality and customer service standards.

In the PRC, the automotive display business 
developed rapidly during the year under review. It is 
now an important market for the Group. In the past, 
the Group invested resources in developing the Japan 
market and we started to reap some rewards in 2012. 
The Group has gradually adapted to the Japanese 
operating style and we successfully gained trust from 
this particular group of customers.

In 2012, the Group started mass production for 
the Thin Film Transistor (TFT) display products that 
are designed for automobiles. This is a milestone 
signifying the beginning of meaningful contribution 
from TFT orders for our automotive business.

Industrial Display Business
Turnover from the industrial display business was 
HK$818 million, representing an 11% decrease as 
compared to 2011. This business contributed 37% of 
total turnover. Europe and the America are the key 
markets for this business.

In Europe, the Group’s displays are mostly applied 
in electricity meters, industrial equipment and white 
goods. The demand is usually stable. Nevertheless, 
the debt crisis in the Eurozone weakened consumer 
appetite, and signs of economic slowdown appeared 
in some countries in 2012. The situation negatively 
affected the industrial display business of the Group. 
Reinforced by our long operating history in Europe and 
deep understanding of it, the Group is still optimistic 
and regards it as a market with sustainable value.

Business in the America was stable. Our customer 
base in the country is wide and diversified, mainly 
covering the categories of industrial equipment, 
electricity meters and medical products. During 
the year under review, orders for meter displays 

increased. In addition, orders for medical products 
have increased substantially in recent years. There 
remains ample development space for this business.

BusIness outlook
Automotive Display Business
It is estimated that the automotive display business will 
achieve satisfactory growth in 2013. On one hand, this 
is because the scale of the automotive display market 
will further expand, thus creating more business 
opportunities for the Group. On the other hand, the 
Group is now one of the leading automotive display 
suppliers, and has invested resources in developing 
displays with more advanced functionality. This will 
ultimately increase the average selling price of our 
products and hence generate more revenue.

Europe is currently our key automotive display 
market, and it will continue to play an important role. 
In the coming year, some automotive projects in the 
America will mature and start to contribute revenue 
for the Group.

In Asia, the PRC will still be the fastest growing market. 
The Group’s products are mostly applied in joint 
venture branded cars. According to the consumer 
pattern in the past one to two years, jointly branded 
cars are more popular among users. The Group’s 
strategy of focusing on the mid to high-end automobile 
segment is appropriate, and we will benefit from our 
customers’ business growth.

In South Korea, the Group has successfully 
strengthened its customer base and further business 
development is anticipated in that market in the 
future. In Japan, we have tuned our product quality 
specifications to align with local customers’ standards 
and the situation in that market is favourable for a rise 
in order quantity. 

Industrial Display Business
The industrial display business will develop steadily in 
2013. Though news about the debt crisis in Europe 
will still be topical from time to time, market response 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

towards such news is not as sensitive as before. 
We believe the worst situation has passed. The 
priority of the European governments is to stimulate 
consumption and improve exports so as to strengthen 
each economy as soon as possible. The Group will 
remain vigilant to this environment and take action 
at the right time, with an aim to put our industrial 
business back on the rising track.

The industrial display business in the America will 
continue to grow at a steady pace. Some newly 
developed projects will reach mass production stage 
in 2013 and contribute to revenue growth. The Group 
intends to expand its customer network by dedicating 
more resources to untapped states in the US.

TFT Display Business
The Group’s TFT business is focused on automotive 
applications. The TFT market is more competitive 
than the market for monochrome display products as 
there are more active players. By capitalising on its 
strengths, the Group is committed to expanding its 
presence in the more sophisticated product segments. 
Reflecting the effectiveness of this strategy, TFT orders 
have continued to increase and mass production will 
start for a number of projects in the coming years, 
which will bring more meaningful contribution to the 
automotive business.

Touch-panel Display Business
In early 2012 the Group set up a dedicated unit to 
develop the touch-panel display business. Within a 
year, progress has been achieved and new orders 
received. Through its exploratory efforts, the Group 
concludes that its product design and production 
capability is well suited for industrial applications.

Currently, industrial application of touch panels is 
rather limited. However, the use of touch panels is 
expected to increase, driven by the growing popularity 
of smartphones and other devices. While the order 
size for touch panels in industrial equipment is small, 
quality expectations are high and products must be 
made-to-order. This is an area where the Group can 

make the most of its operating model and tap into the 
tremendous growth potential of the industrial market.

The Group can provide customers with a one-stop 
solution that combines design, optical bonding and 
production. Together with the Group’s development 
of unique features especially for industrial applications, 
we can offer more practical display solutions and thus 
generate more demand.

opeRAtIng stRAtegy
The automotive display business accounted for over 
60% of the Group’s total turnover in 2012, and the 
proportion is expected to increase in the future. The 
continued expansion of the automotive business is 
interactively linked to the Group’s internal operating 
model and competitive advantages. This means that 
Varitronix must continue to sharpen its competitive 
edge in order to solidify its leading position in the 
automotive display market.

LCDs are high precision instruments with high 
customer dependency, and the level of LCD 
technology continues to advance. To consolidate the 
Group’s market position in the automotive market, 
attention must be focused on three important areas:

1. ensuring stable quality levels,

2. improving service standards, including sales, and 
the ability to deal with product quality issues, and

3. fostering a relationship of mutual trust with 
customers.

pRospeCts
With the continuing expansion of monochrome display 
applications in the automotive and industrial sectors, 
we can see more scope for growth in this market. 
Supported by new product development, enhanced 
product features, improved quality and services tailored 
to customer specifications, the Group will be able to 
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create higher product value and command higher 
average selling prices. Our competitive advantages are 
strong, thus reinforcing the Group’s leading position in 
the high-end monochrome display market.

Over the last few years, we have been improving our 
internal processes and lowering operating costs to raise 
productivity. With all the right conditions like capital 
and business opportunities firmly in place, a close 
examination of the business environment has led us to 
believe that now is the most opportune time to gain 
capacity expansion by means of capital investment, 
with an aim of increasing productivity. In this way 
we will be well positioned to capitalise on business 
opportunities, and further expand our market share in 
the monochrome display products sector in particular.

With productivity enhancement as our mission, 
management is placing high hopes on the new plant, 
which will come into operation in phases during 2013. 
We will make sure that the operating processes, 
hierarchy and manpower are streamlined and 
effective, and that productivity levels are maintained 
at a high standard. With higher productivity and lower 
costs, the Group’s profit potential can be enhanced.

At the same time, as users require displays to show 
more information, the design of display products will 
become more complex. The Group is prepared to 
invest more resources and leverage on our strengths 
to develop our TFT and touch panel businesses, 
targeting high-end customers. We hope to see these 
businesses becoming a major source of income for 
the Group.

ACknoWleDgeMents
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all members 
of staff for your hard work over the past year. Your 
efforts have given Varitronix the ability to explore new 
horizons and to quest for expansion in production and 
market coverage. In addition, I would like to convey 
my appreciation to all shareholders, customers and 
business partners. May we work together to achieve 
business excellence in the coming year!

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 March 2013



MAnAgeMent DIsCussIon AnD AnAlysIs

tuRnoveR
The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 
2012 increased by 4% to HK$2,222 million as 
compared to the previous financial year.

pRoFIt FRoM opeRAtIons
The profit from operations for the year ended 31 
December 2012 was HK$184 million, a decrease 
of HK$4 million or 2% as compared to the previous 
financial year.

During the financial year 2012, the Group made 
an impairment loss of HK$77 million on the non-
listed available-for-sales equity securities, “Hydis 
Technologies Co., Ltd.” in South Korea, a company 
specialises in the manufacturing on thin-film transistor 
liquid crystal displays (“TFT-LCD”).

During the financial year 2012, the Group spent 
HK$165 million on research and development (“R&D”) 
activities, which represented approximately 7% of the 
Group’s turnover.

net pRoFIt AnD DIvIDenDs
The profit attributable to shareholders for the year 
ended 31 December 2012 was HK$171 million, as 
compared to a profit of HK$168 million in 2011.

Basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 
December 2012 were 52.7 HK cents as compared 
to basic earnings per share of 51.9 HK cents in the 
previous financial year. During the year, the Group 
declared and paid the interim dividend of 8.0 HK cents 
per share, which aggregated to HK$26 million. The 
Board have recommended a final dividend of 20.0 
HK cents per share, which will aggregate to HK$65 
million. The total dividend for the year amounts to 28.0 
HK cents per share.

stRuCtuRe oF Assets
As at 31 December 2012, the total assets of the Group 
amounted to HK$2,315 million (2011: HK$1,968 
million). At the year end, inventories increased by 
9% to HK$367 million (2011: HK$336 million) while 
available-for-sale securities decreased by 40% to 
HK$107 million (2011: HK$179 million).

lIQuIDIty AnD FInAnCIAl ResouRCes
As at 31 December 2012, the total equity of the Group 
was HK$1,549 million (2011: HK$1,436 million). The 
Group’s current ratio, being the proportion of total 
current assets against total current liabilities, was 2.31 
as at 31 December 2012 (2011: 2.46).

At the year end, the Group held a liquid portfolio of 
HK$601 million (2011: HK$553 million) of which 
HK$464 million (2011: HK$391 million) was in cash 
and cash equivalents and HK$137 million (2011: 
HK$162 million) in securities. The unsecured interest-
bearing bank loans amounted to HK$318 million 
(2011: HK$154 million). The gearing ratio (bank loans 
over net assets) was 20% (2011: 11%).

The Group’s inventory turnover ratio for the year was 
5.0 times (2011: 5.3 times). Debtor turnover days for 
the year was 76 days (2011: 70 days).

CAsH FloWs
In the year under review, the Group’s cash generated 
from operations amounted to HK$158 million (2011: 
HK$159 million). The increase in inventories reduced 
cash flow by HK$31 million, while the increase in 
trade and other receivables reduced cash flow by 
HK$89 million.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to 
HK$155 million (2011: net cash used in investing 
activities amounted to HK$20 million). There was an 
increase in payments for the purchase of fixed assets 
to HK$295 million (2011: HK$43 million).

CApItAl stRuCtuRe
The Group’s long-term capital comprises shareholders’ 
equity and debt, which includes the bank borrowings. 
There was no change as to the capital structure of the 
Group during the year. The Group had repaid the bank 
borrowings amounted to HK$110 million during the 
year and the bank borrowings increased to HK$318 
million as at 31 December 2012.
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FoReIgn CuRRenCy eXposuRe
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily 
through sales, purchases, loan receivables and bank 
loans that are denominated in a currency other than 
the functional currency of the operations to which 
they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are 
primarily United State Dollars, Euros, Japanese Yen, 
Renminbi and Korean Won.

The Group does not engage in the use of any financial 
instruments for hedging purposes. However, the 
management monitors foreign exchange exposure 
from time to time and will consider hedging significant 
foreign currency exposure when the need arises.

ContIngent lIABIlItIes
As at 31 December 2012, the Company had contingent 
liabilities for guarantees given to banks in respect 
of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries, 
which were utilised to the extent of HK$318 million 
(2011: HK$154 million).

CoMMItMents
As at 31 December 2012, the Group had capital 
commitments of HK$93 million (2011: HK$364 
million), representing the purchase of property, 
plant and equipment not provided for in the financial 
statements. The total future minimum lease payments 
under non-cancellable operating leases for properties 
payable within one year amounted to HK$7 million 
(2011: HK$3 million).

stAFF
As at 31 December 2012, the Group employed 4,747 
staff around the world, of whom 175 were in Hong 
Kong, 4,530 in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) 
and 42 were in overseas. The Group remunerates its 
employees based on their performance, experience 
and prevailing industry practice. The Group operates 
an employee share option scheme and provides rent-
free quarters to certain of its employees in Hong Kong 
and the PRC.

The Group adopts a performance-based remuneration 
policy. Salary adjustments and performance bonuses 
are based on the evaluation of job performance. The 
aim is to create an atmosphere that encourages 
top performers and provides incentives for general 
employees to improve and excel.

stAFF RetIReMent sCHeMes
The Group principally participates in defined 
contribution retirement plans. In Hong Kong, the 
Group participates in the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Scheme operated by independent trustees. 
Contribution at a fixed rate of 5% of the employee’s 
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant 
income of HK$20,000 per employee, are made to the 
scheme and are vested immediately. With effect from 
1 June 2012, the maximum level of income has been 
increased to HK$25,000 monthly.

In addition, the Group also operates a Top-Up ORSO 
scheme, approved by the Inland Revenue Department 
under Section 87A of the Inland Revenue Ordinance, 
and both the employer and the employee are required to 
contribute 5% of the excess of the employee’s relevant 
income to the scheme. It is only eligible for employees 
who joined the Group on or before 30 June 2009.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which 
operate in the PRC are required to participate in central 
pension schemes operated by the local municipal 
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute 
certain percentage of the payroll costs to the central 
pension schemes. The contributions are charged to the 
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance 
with the rules of the central pension schemes.

During the year, the total retirement scheme cost 
charged to the Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2012 was HK$18 
million (2011: HK$17 million). Charges to administer 
the scheme are deducted from the employer’s 
contributions. Forfeited contributions are used by 
the employer to offset against future contributions. 
The amount so utilised during the year ended 31 
December 2012 was HK$15,000 (2011: HK$35,000) 
and at 31 December 2012, the balance available to 
reduce the level of contributions in future amounted to 
HK$5,000 (2011: HK$58,000).
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euRope
In 2012, the Group’s business in Europe recorded 
revenue of HK$858 million, representing a drop of 3% 
from 2011. The European business contributed 39% 
of the Group’s total turnover for the year under review.

The decrease in revenue was due to sluggish 
industrial business in the first half of 2012. Though 
the industrial market sentiment improved slightly in 
the second half of the year, the rebound could not 
reverse the overall trend.

Automotive Display Business
The Group enjoyed a leading position in the 
automotive display market in the European region. 
Despite the weak economy in Europe, our automotive 
orders remained adequate and stable, especially in 
the second half of 2012. The Group mainly supplies 
displays for leading automotive brands in Europe, 
a sector which was less affected by the economic 
downturn. Moreover, some customers continued to 
produce and export cars to Eastern Europe and new 
markets, and thus they continued to ramp up orders 
for our displays.

EUROPE

39%

OTHERS

6% AMERICA

13%

KOREA

12%

THE PRC AND 
HONG KONG

30%

RevIeW oF opeRAtIons
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One of the characteristics of the automotive business 
is its long development time. There are new models 
moving to the mass production stage every year. This in 
turn ensures a stable revenue stream for this business.

The TFT business contributed a meaningful portion to 
the automotive revenue in Europe during the year in 
review. We regard this as a significant indication for the 
future. It is hoped that the TFT business will continue 
to grow in the next few years and play an increasingly 
important role in the automotive display business.

The Group will endeavour to develop high duty 
displays that can present more complex information 
in cars. We believe that ever improving displays can 
sustain revenue growth in the automotive sector.

Industrial Display Business
The industrial display business recorded a decrease 
in turnover during the year under review. The macro 
economy in Europe was not favourable and this led to 
a drop in orders from industrial customers.

Looking forward, we expect to see a slight 
improvement in the industrial business. Some 
projects which have been previously developed will 
start mass run this year. The demand for industrial 
equipment applications will be stable, and white 
goods applications will experience steady growth. In 
terms of electricity meters, however, the demand will 
drop since some of the existing projects will expire 
and bidding of new projects will not be available until 
the end of 2013.

92012 AnnuAl RepoRt 



Touch panel displays will be another potential 
technology for industrial customers. A number of 
projects started mass production in 2012 and we 
expect more customers in Europe will explore the 
usage of touch panels in the future. The Group is 
eager to improve our own touch panel technology to 
win more orders from existing customers and potential 
new customers.

Overall, we have confidence that the European 
region’s economy will slowly improve. Although there 
will be ups and downs during the process, over the 
long term the trend will develop upward. The Group 
is fully prepared to maintain its leading position in the 
display business in the region.

koReA
The Group’s revenue in South Korea in 2012 recorded 
a decrease of 8% when compared with 2011. Revenue 
for the year under review was HK$256 million, 
representing 12% of the total turnover of the Group.

In 2012, the Group reversed a downward trend of its 
automotive business with an improvement that was 
particularly obvious in the second half of the year. This 
is attributed to the Group’s determination in refining 
its product quality to meet the stringent requirements 
of automotive customers, plus efforts in speeding up 
product delivery and service after sales. However, the 
drop of industrial business in South Korea offset the 
automotive business improvement effect.

The Group reached out for new customers for industrial 
applications in 2012. We are eager to explore more 
business opportunities in the industrial sector in 2013.

In general, customers in South Korea are more inclined 
to adopt new technology. Therefore, the Group 
is encouraged to develop more high-end display 
technology and improve the function of our displays 
to provide better contrast quality and a higher duty 
ratio. We believe this extension in technology can help 
in improving the margins for our products in the future.

AMeRICA
The Group’s business in America recorded HK$290 
million in revenue during the year under review, 
representing a 10% increase as compared to 2011. 
This market accounted for 13% of the Group’s overall 
turnover, compared to 12% in 2011.

The economy in America remained stable in the 
presidential election year. The Group managed to 
maintain balanced growth in different sectors of its 
industrial business. Of the diversified applications, 
industrial equipment and medical products recorded 
satisfactory growth. The sales team has aggressively 
promoted displays with higher value to electricity meter 
customers and successfully secured new orders from 
2012 and for subsequent years.

Looking forward, we expect the scale of the business 
in the America will further expand and play a more 
significant role in the years to come. It is a market with 
good potential in terms of customer diversification 
and geographical coverage. In 2013, it is expected 
that the key growth prospects are in medical products 
and the automotive sector where the Group’s end-
users including both passenger cars and trucks. 
Development for some of these automotive projects is 
mature and they will be ready for mass production in 
the coming years.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Geographically, the Group plans to explore markets 
in additional states in America with business 
potential. Both our sales force and customer base 
will be developed in those states, and more business 
opportunities are expected in the future.

tHe pRC AnD Hong kong
Revenue generated from the PRC and Hong Kong 
region reached HK$675 million, a 19% increase as 
compared to 2011. For the year under review, revenue 
from the PRC and Hong Kong region accounted 
for 30% of the Group’s total turnover, compared to  
27% in 2011.

In the PRC, the Group’s business focus is on joint 
venture branded cars. The positioning of the Group 
aligns with recent development in the PRC automotive 
industry in the country. As the economy is developing, 
the middle to upper class segment is growing. This 
group of consumers is more inclined to buy joint 
venture branded cars, which are regarded as more 
prestigious, of higher quality and, at the same time, 
affordable. This business strategy brought in increased 
orders for the Group during the period under review.

It is estimated that 2013 will be another year of stable 
growth for the PRC automotive market. Unlike the 
low-end market which fluctuates and is susceptible 
to price competition, the Group’s featured segment 
performed stably both in terms of demand and value. 
The Group has quite a few mature projects on hand 
that are going to generate revenue.

The Group aims at promoting high-end display 
products to its PRC customers in order to maintain its 
leading position in this market. To achieve this goal, 
more dedicated manpower will be allocated to serving 
our PRC customers.
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CoRpoRAte ResponsIBIlIty – 
InteRpRetAtIon By vARItRonIX

As awareness of our environmental, employee 
and community well-being continues to grow, 
so does their importance in corporations, as 
any mistakes or negligence in these areas 
could easily jeopardise business development 
and corporate growth.

In our definition, Corporate Responsibility is not a 
public relations exercise. Rather, we believe that 
caring for staff, environmental protection, community 
responsibility and relations building with suppliers 
and stakeholders are all essential elements for our 
sustainable development.

We regard Social Corporate Responsibility as a 
natural mission of a good corporation. Accordingly, 
one of the key remits of Varitronix management is to 
ensure the different corporate responsibility elements 
are incorporated into daily operations so as to sustain 
continuous economic growth.

CoRpoRAte ResponsIBIlIty 
FRAMeWoRk

We believe the three aspects are interlinked and 
should be treated equally. When we treasure our 
employees, we should also care about their family 
members and our surrounding community at large. 
Employees are given equal opportunities to grow 
and develop in the company. Furthermore, as a 
responsible corporate citizen, we must ensure that we 

make the least pollution impact on the environment 
in order to protect our employees and their families. 
In turn, we see social service as a way to benefit the 
underprivileged, whilst at the same time, the service 
itself provides good development opportunities for 
our employees and their families to learn from new 
perspectives and share precious time together.

CoRpoRAte ResponsIBIlIty RepoRt

soCIAl seRvICe

 Strengthen community 
support

 Care for the 
underprivileged

 Expand employees’ 
scope and horizons

eMployees

 Safety and well-
being at work

 Welfare and benefits

 Ensuring staff can 
enjoy wholesome 
development

envIRonMent

 Reduced energy 
consumption

 Waste management

 Environmental 
education
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eMployee DevelopMent : 2013 tARget
In order to develop a stable, committed and energetic workforce for 
sustainable corporate growth, Varitronix places particular emphasis 
on employee well-being. Thus, we are committed to providing 
a safe and pleasant working environment for our staff and labour 
force. In 2013, we will strengthen work safety training and aim to 
keep workplace accidents below 2 cases. An internal audit of labour 
practices, workplace health and safety and labour union function will 
be conducted so as to identify future improvement plans.

eMployee DevelopMent : 2012 RevIeW

OHSAS18000 accreditation

Workers enjoying a company outing

Varitronix Cup Competition – 
Tug of War

Varitronix Cup Competition – 
Table Tennis

Varitronix 30th Anniversary Scholarship for Hong Kong 
University of Science and Technology in 2012 –  
Dr Vladimir G. Chigrinov (second from left), Professor 
of Department of Electronic and Computer 
Engineering, and Mr Howard Chiu, Manager of 
Technology Development Team (far left), presented  
the Scholarship Awards to studentsCoaching Program for Fresh 

Graduates 2011 – Final Project 
Presentation winner

Two teams from Varitronix participating in 
the Oxfam Trailwalker in 2012

Engineers teamed up in an outward bound 
training session in the PRC

Varitronix Full Marathon 
runners in the HK Standard 
Chartered Marathon

Varitronix runners 
participating in the HK 
Standard Chartered 
Marathon
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envIRonMentAl pRoteCtIon : 2013 tARget
Compliance with environmental regulations and standards is one of 
our golden operating principles. In 2013, a new production building will 
be phased into operation. It will be our obligation to minimise energy 
consumption and reduce waste at source in the new production 
facility. We hope to establish a cost-efficient manufacturing model 
in the new building by exerting stringent energy consumption and 
waste reduction controls.

Trained observers monitor correct use of 
garbage classification bins

Varitronix cyclists journeyed to clean up a 
tourist site in Heyuan, PRC

Garbage Enzyme Workshop in our Production Plant 
organised by The Conservancy AssociationA new facility was set up to collect 

heat energy from manufacturing and 
is utilised as a fuel for hot bath water 
in the staff dormitory

The new office in Hong Kong uses energy-
saving T5 fluorescent tubes, and complies 
with energy efficiency standards

envIRonMentAl pRoteCtIon : 2012 RevIeW

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY REPORT
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soCIAl seRvICe : 2012 RevIeW
Varitronix partnered with the Login Club for New Arrivals of the 
Evangelical Lutheran Church Social Service for the second year, to 
co-organise a mentoring program designed to help underprivileged 
children in the Kwai Hing region.

Opening ceremony of “Star Journey with 
Children”, the mentoring programme

An outing organised at Music Farm

A class for snack preparation

Programme Handbooks for 
the participating children

Varitronix mentors visiting the elderly with children 
from the programme

A trail walk and BBQ get-together
Small gift workshop before Mothers’ Day

A warm-hearted mentor and 
mentee pair up together

soCIAl seRvICe : 2013 tARget
In 2013, Varitronix will cooperate with a new NGO to serve the ethnic 
minorities in Hong Kong. By launching a new programme, we hope 
to attract more volunteers to join the social service. We will also 
encourage more staff family members to participate in volunteering 
activities so as to create a feeling of family inclusion. All these initiatives 
are aimed at facilitating wholesome staff development. 
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BoARD oF DIReCtoRs AnD senIoR MAnAgeMent

DIReCtoR’s BIogRApHICAl 
InFoRMAtIon
Ko Chun Shun, Johnson
aged 61, was appointed as the Chairman and Executive 
Director of the Company in June 2005. Mr. Ko is a 
member of the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Ko is a 
substantial shareholder of the Company and a director 
of various subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ko is also the 
Chairman and an Executive Director of DVN (Holdings) 
Limited and ReOrient Group Limited, and the Vice 
Chairman and an Executive Director of China WindPower 
Group Limited. The above companies are listed on the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony
aged 48, was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer 
and an Executive Director of the Company in March 
2005. Mr. Tsoi is a director of various subsidiaries of the 
Group. Mr. Tsoi graduated from the University of Western 
Ontario, Canada with an Honours degree in Business 
Administration in 1986. He was selected as one of the 
“Hong Kong Young Industrialists” by The Federation of 
Hong Kong Industries in 2010. Mr. Tsoi is an Executive 
Director of ReOrient Group Limited, a Non-executive 
Director of China WindPower Group Limited and Zhidao 
International (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as Ocean 
Grand Holdings Limited). He is also an Independent 
Non-executive Director of Fairwood Holdings Limited, all 
of the above companies are listed on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange. Mr. Tsoi is the deputy chairman of the 
supervisory board of Data Modul AG, which is listed on 
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

Yuen Kin
aged 58, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in March 2005 and 
re-designated as an Executive Director of the Company 
and appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group 
in July 2009. Mr. Yuen was also a member of the Audit 
Committee of the Company until he became an Executive 
Director of the Company. Mr. Yuen holds a Master of 
Business Administration degree from the University 
of Toronto, Canada. He is a Chartered Accountant 
in Canada and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and of the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. 

Yuen is an Independent Non-executive Director of China 
Jiuhao Health Industry Corporation Limited (formerly 
known as Media China Corporation Limited), which is 
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Ho Te Hwai, Cecil
aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director and 
the Company Secretary of the Company in March 2005. 
He is a director of various subsidiaries of the Group and 
is also the Qualified Accountant for the Group. Mr. Ho 
was appointed as a chief financial officer of ReOrient 
Group Limited, which is listed on the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange, in 2011. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
degree from the University of British Columbia, Canada. 
He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of Canada and the HKICPA.

Lo Wing Yan, William
aged 52, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive 
Director of the Company in July 2004. He is the Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee 
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Dr. Lo 
holds a Master’s degree in Molecular Pharmacology and 
a Doctorate in Genetic Engineering, both of which are 
obtained from the University of Cambridge in England. 
Dr. Lo is currently the Vice Chairman of South China 
Media Group. Dr. Lo was also a Bye-Fellow of Downing 
College, the University of Cambridge. In 1999, he was 
appointed as a Justice of Peace (J.P) by the government 
of Hong Kong. In 2003, he was appointed as a Member 
of Shantou Committee of the Chinese People’s Political 
Consultative Conference. Dr. Lo is an Adjunct Professor 
of The School of Business of Hong Kong Baptist 
University. He is also a governor of an independent 
school, the ISF Academy, as well as the Chairman of 
Junior Achievement Hong Kong. Dr. Lo is currently an 
Independent Non-executive Director of LZYE Group plc, 
which is listed on the London Stock Exchange, Nam Tai 
Electronics, Inc., which is listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange, SITC International Limited, which is listed 
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and Westminster 
Travel Limited, which is listed on the Singapore Stock 
Exchange. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of South China Land Limited, which 
is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, since 2002 
and was re-designated as a Non-executive Director in 
September 2011.
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Hou Ziqiang
aged 75, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in March 2005. 
He is a member of the Remuneration Committee, the 
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the 
Company. Mr. Hou graduated from Peking University in 
1958 with a Bachelor’s degree in Physics. From 1993 to 
1997, Mr. Hou was a Director of the Institute of Acoustics 
of the Chinese Academy of Sciences. From 1988 to 
1993, Mr. Hou was a Secretary General of the Chinese 
Academy of Sciences.

Chau Shing Yim, David
aged 49, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive 
Director of the Company in July 2009. He is a member of 
the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Chau has over 
20 years of experience in corporate finance, working on 
projects ranging from initial public offering transactions 
and restructuring of PRC enterprises to cross-border and 
domestic takeover transactions. Mr. Chau was formerly 
a partner of one of the big four accounting firms in Hong 
Kong, holding the position as their Head of Merger and 
Acquisition and Corporate Advisory. He is a member 
of the Hong Kong Securities Institute, the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of England and Wales (“ICAEW”), 
and was granted the Corporate Finance Qualification of 
ICAEW, and the HKICPA, and was an ex-committee 
member of the Disciplinary Panel of the HKICPA. Mr. 
Chau is an Executive Director of Zhidao International 
(Holdings) Limited (formerly known as Ocean Grand 
Holdings Limited). He is also a Non-executive Director 
of Up Energy Development Group Limited. He is also an 
Independent Non-executive Director of Lee & Man Paper 
Manufacturing Limited, Shandong Molong Petroleum 
Machinery Company Limited, Man Wah Holdings 
Limited and Evergrande Real Estate Group Limited. All 
the aforesaid companies are listed on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange. He resigned as an Independent Non-
executive Director of Duoyuan Global Water Inc., which 
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, in April 2012.

senIoR MAnAgeMent’s 
BIogRApHICAl InFoRMAtIon
Suen Mo Ha, Rossetti
aged 41, is the Chief Operating Officer of the Group. She 
holds a Master’s degree in Statistics from The University 
of Hong Kong, and a Bachelor’s degree in Quantitative 
Analysis for Business from City Polytechnic University. 
She joined the Group in December 2000.

Lam Cheuk Yin, Kenneth
aged 38, is the Financial Controller of the Group. He has 
a Bachelor of Business Administration (Accountancy) from 
City University of Hong Kong, and is an Associate Member 
of the HKICPA. He joined the Group in July 2005.

Fung Yeuk Keung
aged 58, is the General Manager – Manufacturing of the 
Group. He conducted his PhD research study in the Liquid 
Crystal Institute of Kent State University and obtained a 
Master and a Doctorate degree in Physics from the same 
university. Dr. Fung joined the Group in 1995 and resigned 
in 2006. He rejoined the Group in November 2009.

Park Soo Bin, James
aged 42, is the General Manager – Technical Group & 
Touch Panel Unit. He holds a Bachelor of Physics degree 
from Sogang University in South Korea. He joined the 
Group in October 2006.

Lo Pak Chi, Patrick
aged 39, is the Senior Manager – Corporate Development 
of the Group. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Applied 
Physics from The Hong Kong Baptist University. He 
joined the Group in May 1998.

Ng Siu Keung, Ricardo
aged 50, is the Senior Manager – Information Service, 
Facilities & External Affairs (PRC) of the Group. He holds 
a Master’s degree in Business Administration from 
International University of America. He joined the Group 
in September 2006.

Chan Siu Wah, Susana
aged 43, is the Senior Manager – Human Resources & 
Public Relations of the Group. She holds a Bachelor’s 
degree of Arts from The Chinese University of Hong 
Kong. She joined the Group in November 2005.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company i s  commi t ted to ach iev ing and 
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. 
The Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) 
recognises that such commitment is essential in 
uphold ing the accountab i l i ty and t ransparency 
and to achieve a balance of interests between the 
shareholders, customers, creditors, employees as well 
as other stakeholders.

CoRpoRAte goveRnAnCe pRACtICes
T h e  c o r p o r a t e  g o v e r n a n c e  s t a n d a rd s  o f  t h e 
Company are built on the principles of independence, 
accountab i l i t y,  t ransparency and fa i rness. The 
Company has adopted and complied with the code 
provision set out in the Code on Corporate Governance 
Practices (the “CG Code”) which was in force prior to 
1 January 2005 and in the revised version of the CG 
Code which takes effect from April 2012 (the “New 
CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the 
Stock Exchange”). The Board has taken actions and 
measures to ensure that the Company is in all aspects 
in strict compliance.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has 
complied with the code provisions of the CG Code 
and the New CG Code throughout the year ended 31 
December 2012.

MoDel CoDe FoR seCuRItIes 
tRAnsACtIons By DIReCtoRs
The Company has adopted the Model Code for 
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 
(the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing 
Rules. Following specific enquiry by the Company, 
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with 
the required standards as set out in the Model Code 
throughout the year under review.

BoARD oF DIReCtoRs
The Company bene f i t s  f rom the p ro fess iona l 
management  expe r t i se  o f  i t s  D i rec to rs .  B r i e f 
biographies of the Directors are set out in the “Board 
of Directors and Senior Management” section in 
this Annual Report. The professional management 
expertise of the Directors ensures that the Board has 
the capabilities of sustaining the Company’s continued 
success.

As at 31 December 2012, the Board comprises four 
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors.

Executive Directors: Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson 
 (Chairman)
Mr. Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony 
 (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yuen Kin 
 (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Ho Te Hwai, Cecil

Independent Non-executive 
 Directors:

Dr. Lo Wing Yan, William
Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David
Mr. Hou Ziqiang

All the Independent Non-executive Directors meet the 
guidelines for assessment of independence as set out 
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets at least 4 times a year with additional 
meetings arranged when necessary to review the 
financial performance, material investments and other 
matters of the Group that require the resolution of the 
Board.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2012, a 
total of 7 Board meetings and 1 annual general meeting 
(“2012 AGM”) were held and the attendance of each 
Director is set out as follows:

Number of meetings attended in 2012

Name Board 2012 AGM
Remuneration

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Audit 
Committee

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson 7/7 1/1 2/2 2/2 N/A

Mr. Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony 7/7 1/1 N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Yuen Kin 6/7 1/1 N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Ho Te Hwai, Cecil 7/7 1/1 N/A N/A N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Lo Wing Yan, William 7/7 1/1 2/2 2/2 3/3

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David 7/7 1/1 N/A N/A 3/3

Mr. Hou Ziqiang 7/7 1/1 2/2 2/2 3/3
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The Directors have no financial, business, family 
or other material/relevant relationships among the 
members of the Board except that:

(1) Messrs. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson and Tsoi Tong 
Hoo, Tony are directors of China WindPower 
Group Limited (stock code: 182) and ReOrient 
Group Limited (stock code: 376), which are listed 
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

(2) Messrs. Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony and Chau Shing 
Yim, David are directors of Zhidao International 
(Holdings) Limited (formerly known as Ocean 
Grand Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1220), a 
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange.

In the Board’s opinion, these relationships do not affect 
the Directors’ independent judgment and integrity in 
executing their roles and responsibilities.

Professional Development
Pursuant to A.6.5 of the New CG Code, all Directors 
shou ld pa r t i c ipa te i n  con t inuous p ro fess iona l 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge 
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the 
Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of 
this report, all Directors have participated in continuous 
professional development by attending training course 
and/or referring materials on the topics related to 
corporate governance and regulations.

Responsibilities of the Board
The Board has the col lect ive responsib i l i ty for 
leadership and control of, and for promoting the 
success of, the Company by directing and supervising 
the Company’s affairs. The Board sets the Group’s 
overal l  object ives and strategies, monitors and 
evaluates its operating and financial performance 
and reviews the corporate governance standard of 
the Company. It also decides on matters such as 
interim and annual results, major transactions, director 
appointments or reappointments, and dividend and 
accounting policies. The Board has delegated the 
authority and responsibi l i ty for implementing its 
business strategies and managing the daily operations 
of the Group’s businesses to the management.

Corporate Governance Functions
No corporate governance committee has been 
established and the Board is responsible for performing 
the corporate governance functions such as developing 
and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices 
on corporate governance, training and continuous 
professional development of the Directors and senior 
management of the Group, the Company’s policies 
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements, etc.

The Board held meetings from time to time whenever 
necessary. At least 14 days notice of regular Board 
meetings is given to all Directors and they can include 
matters for discussion in the agenda as they think fit. 
The agenda accompanying board papers are sent to 
all Directors at least 3 days before the date of every 
Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for the 
Directors to review the documents.

Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to all 
Directors for their perusal and comments prior to 
confirmation of the minutes. The Board also ensures 
that it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary 
information in a form and of a quality appropriate to 
enable it to discharge its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and 
services of the company secretary of the Company 
with a view to ensuring that board procedures, and all 
applicable rules and regulations are followed and they 
are also entitled to have full access to board papers 
and related materials so that they are able to make an 
informed decision and to discharge their duties and 
responsibilities.

CHAIRMAn AnD CHIeF eXeCutIve 
oFFICeR
The roles of the Chairman of the Board, Mr. Ko Chun 
Shun, Johnson and the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. 
Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony are separated, with a clear 
division of responsibilities. The Chairman of the Board 
is responsible for formulating corporate strategies 
and overall business development planning. The Chief 
Executive Officer’s duty is to oversee the execution of 
daily business activities. The division of responsibilities 
is to ensure a balance of power and authority.

teRM oF AppoIntMent oF non-
eXeCutIve DIReCtoRs
The Independent Non-executive Directors have been 
appointed for a fixed term expiring on 31 December 
2013 or such other date as agreed by the Independent 
Non-executive Directors. All Directors are subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once every three years 
under the Company’s Bye-laws.

BoARD CoMMIttees

Remuneration Committee
The Remunerat ion Commit tee of the Company 
(the “RC”) is responsible for setting and monitoring 
the remuneration policy for all Directors and senior 
management of the Group. The RC comprises Dr. 
Lo Wing Yan, William (Chairman of the RC), Mr. Hou 
Ziqiang and Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson. Among the 3 
members of the RC, 2 members are Independent Non-
Executive Directors. The terms of reference of the RC 
are available at the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange.
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The roles and functions of the RC include consulting 
the Chairman of the Board about their remuneration 
proposals for other Executive Directors, making 
recommendation to the Board on the Company’s 
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors’ 
and senior management of the Group and the RC has 
adopted the approach under B.1.2(c)(ii) of the New CG 
Code to make recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration packages of individual Executive Director 
and senior management of the Group.

The Company’s remunerat ion po l icy i s  to l ink 
remuneration packages for Executive Directors with 
the achievement of annual and long-term performance 
goals. By providing competitive and performance-linked 
compensation, the Company seeks to attract, motivate 
and retain key executives, which is essential to its long-
term success.

2 meetings were held in 2012. During the meetings, 
the RC reviewed the Company’s remuneration policy 
and fixed the remuneration packages for the Executive 
Directors and senior management of the Group. No 
change has been proposed to the remuneration policy 
and the Directors’ remuneration. The number of RC 
meeting held during the year and record of individual 
attendance of members, on a named basis, at 
meetings held is set out in section headed “BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS” above in this report.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior 
Management
The Director’s remuneration is set out in note 7 to the 
consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

The remuneration paid to the members of the senior 
management by bands in 2012 is set out below:

Remuneration Bands
Number of 
Individuals

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 4

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee (the “NC”) comprises Dr. 
Lo Wing Yan, William (Chairman of the NC), Mr. Hou 
Ziqiang and Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson. Among the 3 
members of the NC, 2 members are Independent Non-
executive Directors. The terms of reference of the NC 
are available at the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the NC include reviewing 
the structure, size and composition of the Board 
at least annually, making recommendations on any 
proposed changes to the Board to complement the 
Company’s corporate strategy, identifying individuals 

suitably qualified to become members of the Board 
and selecting individuals nominated for directorship 
(if necessary), assessing the independence of the 
Independent Non-executive Directors and making 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or 
re-appointment of directors and succession planning 
for the Directors, in particular the Chairman of the 
Board and the Chief Executive Officer. New Directors 
are sought mainly through referrals. In evaluating 
whether an appointee is suitable to act as a Director of 
the Company, the Board will review the independence, 
experience and expertise of the appointee as well 
as personal ethics, integrity and time commitment of 
the appointee.

2 meetings were held in 2012. Issues concerning the 
structure, size and composition of the Board were 
discussed and no change has been proposed to the 
structure, size and composition. The number of NC 
meeting held during the year and record of individual 
attendance of members, on a named basis, at meetings 
held during is set out in section headed “BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS” above in this report.

Audit Committee
The Aud i t  Commi t tee ( the “AC” )  compr ises 3 
Independent Non-executive Directors: Dr. Lo Wing 
Yan, William (Chairman of the AC), Mr. Chau Shing 
Yim, David and Mr. Hou Ziqiang. The AC is responsible 
for appointment of external auditors, review of the 
Group’s financial information and oversight of the 
Group’s financial reporting system and internal control 
procedures. It is also responsible for reviewing the 
interim and annual results of the Group prior to 
recommending them to the Board for approval. It 
meets regularly to review financial reporting and internal 
control matters and to this end has unrestricted access 
to both the Company’s internal and external auditors. 
The terms of reference of the AC are available at the 
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The AC held 3 meetings in 2012, in which the 
Committee reviewed with management the accounting 
principles and practices adopted by the Group and 
discussed internal controls and financial reporting 
matters so as to ensure that an effective control 
environment is maintained. The number of AC meeting 
held during the year and record of individual attendance 
of members, on a named basis, at meetings held during 
is set out in section headed “BOARD OF DIRECTORS” 
above in this report.

The AC also made its recommendation to the Board 
that the external auditors should be reappointed 
and approved the remuneration and the terms of 
engagements of the external auditors.

The internal and external auditors have unrestricted 
access  t o  t he  AC ,  wh i ch  ensu res  t ha t  t he i r 
independence remains unimpaired.
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There are no disagreement between the Board and 
the AC on the selection, appointment, resignation or 
dismissal of the external auditors.

The AC meets and holds discussions with the Executive 
Directors and other senior management of the Group 
on the interim results, preliminary results announcement 
and annual reports. The AC reviews and discusses 
the management’s report and representations with 
a review to ensure that the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements and prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. 
It also considers reports from the Company’s external 
auditors, KPMG, on the scope and the outcome of their 
annual audit of the consolidated financial statements.

Accountability and Audit

Financial Reporting

The management provides such explanation and 
information to the Board and reports regularly to 
the Board on financial position and prospects of the 
business of the Company so as to enable the Board 
to make an informed assessment of the financial and 
other information put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as 
set out in the Report of the Independent Auditor) for 
preparing the financial statements for each financial 
period with a view to ensuring such financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. 
The Company’s financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and 
applicable accounting standards. The Directors are 
responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting 
policies are selected and applied consistently; and 
that judgments and estimates made are prudent and 
reasonable. The Board was not aware of any material 
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that 
might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern and the Board has 
prepared the financial statements on a going concern 
basis. The responsibility of the external auditor is to 
form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on 
those consolidated financial statements prepared by the 
Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders of 
the Company. The reporting responsibilities of KPMG 
are set out in the Report of the Independent Auditor on 
page 28 of this Annual Report.

Internal Control and Risk Management
The Board is responsible for the Company’s internal 
control system and risk management procedures 
and for reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control. The Board has conducted a review of, 
and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the system 
of internal controls of the Group. The review covered 
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 

management functions. To further strengthen its control 
system, the Company has established an Internal 
Audit Department to perform independent evaluations 
and reporting of the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Company’s controls, information system and 
operations.

Auditors’ Remuneration
Total auditors’ remuneration in relation to audit and 
non-audit services provided to the Group amounted to 
HK$4 million (2011: HK$4 million), of which a sum of 
HK$3 million (2011: HK$3 million) was paid to KPMG. 
Details of the external auditor’s fees are set out in note 
5(c) to the consolidated financial statements of this 
Annual Report.

Company Secretary
Mr. Ho Te Hwai, Cecil was appointed as the company 
secretary of the Company in March 2005. The 
biographical details of Mr. Ho are set out under 
the section headed “Board of Directors and Senior 
Management” in this Annual Report.

According to the newly introduced Rule 3.29 of the 
Listing Rules, Mr. Ho has taken no less than 15 hours 
of relevant professional training during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2012.

Shareholders’ Rights
The genera l meet ings of the Company provide 
an opportuni ty for communicat ion between the 
shareholders of the Company and the Board. The 
Company holds an annual general meeting (“AGM”) 
every year, and may hold a general meeting known as 
an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) whenever 
necessary.

– Right to convene EGM

Members of the Company holding at the date of 
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth 
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the 
right of voting at general meetings of the Company 
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition 
sent to the Company's registered office at Clarendon 
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda 
(the “Registered Office”) and its principal office at 
Units A – F, 35th Floor, Legend Tower, No. 7 Shing Yip 
Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Principal 
Office”), for the attention of the company secretary of 
the Company, to require an EGM to be called by the 
Board for the transaction of any business specified in 
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 
two months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the 
general meeting, signed by the member(s) concerned 
and may consist of several documents in like form, 
each signed by one or more of those members.
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If the requisition is in order, the company secretary of 
the Company will ask the Board to convene an EGM 
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the 
statutory requirements to all the registered members. 
On the contrary, i f the requisit ion is invalid, the 
members concerned will be advised of this outcome 
and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as 
requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered 
members for consideration of the proposal raised by 
the member(s) concerned at an EGM varies according 
to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

– At least 21 clear days' and not less than 10 
clear business days’ notice in writing if the 
proposal constitutes a special resolution of the 
Company, which cannot be amended other 
than to a mere clerical amendment to correct a 
patent error; and

– At least 14 clear days' and not less than 10 
clear business days’ notice in writing if the 
proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of 
the Company.

– Right to put enquiries to the Board

Members of the Company do not generally have any 
right to put forward enquiries to the Board. There is 
no procedure set out in the Bermuda Companies Act 
1981 or in the Bye-Laws of the Company available for 
any member to put forward an enquiry to the Board. A 
member of the Company may, of course, at any time 
write to the Board and it is up to the Board to decide 
whether or not to entertain any request made by a 
member of the Company.

Members of the Company who have enquires about the 
above procedures or have enquires to put to the Board 
may write to the company secretary of the Company 
at Units A – F, 35/F., Legend Tower, No. 7 Shing Yip 
Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

– Right to put forward proposals at shareholders’ 

meetings

Member(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than 
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all members 
having the right to vote at the shareholders’ meeting; 
or (ii) not less than 100 members, can submit a written 
request stating the resolution intended to be moved 
at an AGM; or a statement of not more than 1,000 
words with respect to the matter referred to in any 
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at 
a particular shareholders’ meeting.

The written request/statements must be signed by the 
member(s) concern and deposited at the Registered 
Office and the Principal Office, for the attention of the 
company secretary of the Company, not less than six 
weeks before the AGM in the case of a requisition 
requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one 
week before the shareholders’ meeting in the case of 
any other requisition.

If the written request is in order, the company secretary 
of the Company will ask the Board (i) to include the 
resolution in the agenda for an AGM; or (ii) to circulate 
the statement for the shareholders’ meeting, provided 
that the member(s) concerned have deposited a sum of 
money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient 
to meet the Company's expenses in serving the notice 
of the resolution and/or circulating the statement 
submitted by the member(s) concerned in accordance 
with the statutory requirements to all the registered 
members. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid 
or the member(s) concerned have failed to deposit 
sufficient money to meet the Company's expenses for 
the said purposes, the member(s) concerned will be 
advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed 
resolution will not be included in the agenda for the 
AGM; or the statement will not be circulated for the 
shareholders’ meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to 
propose a person for election as a director is posted 
on the Company’s website.

InvestoR RelAtIons
The Company attaches great importance to communicate  
with shareholders of the Company and a number of 
means, including regular group meetings and plant 
tours, are used to promote greater understanding and 
dialogue with investment community. This also include 
the annual general meeting, the annual and interim 
reports, notices, announcements and circulars. Key 
executives maintain regular dialogue with institutional 
investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the 
Company’s development.

The Group’s website www.varitronix.com contains an 
“Investor & Media Relations” section which offers timely 
access to the Company’s press releases, financial 
reports and major announcements.

The AGM is an important opportunity for communicating  
with shareholders. The Company’s Chairman and 
Directors are available at the AGM to answer questions 
from shareholders of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, there 
had been no significant change in the Company’s 
constitutional documents.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting herewith their 
report together with the audited financial statements of 
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the 
year ended 31 December 2012.

pRInCIpAl ACtIvItIes
The principal activity of the Company is investment 
holding. The principal activities of the Group are design, 
manufacture and sale of liquid crystal displays and 
related products.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical 
locations of the operations of the Group during the 
financial year are set out in Notes 3, 4, 13 to the 
financial statements.

suBsIDIARIes
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2012 are set out in Note 15 to the financial 
statements.

FInAnCIAl stAteMents
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2012 and the state of affairs of the Company 
and the Group at that date are set out in the financial 
statements on pages 29 to 77 of this Annual Report.

DIvIDenD
The Board has recommended declaring a final dividend 
of 20.0 HK cents (2011: 15.5 HK cents) per share as 
compared to interim dividend of 8.0 HK cents (2011: 
11.0 HK cents) per share representing a total of 28.0 
HK cents (2011: 26.5 HK cents) per share for the year 
ended 2012.

ClosuRe oF RegIsteR oF MeMBeRs
The register of members of the Company will be closed 
from Monday, 27 May 2013 to Monday, 3 June 2013 
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer 
of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to 
attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM (the “2013 
AGM”), all transfers of shares accompanied by the 
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the 
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and 
transfer office, Computershare Hong Kong Investor 
Services Limited (“Computershare”), of Shops 1712-16,  
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,  
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 
24 May 2013.

Subject to the shareholders approving the recommended  
final dividend at the 2013 AGM of the Company, such 
dividend will be payable on or around Tuesday, 9 
July 2013 to shareholders whose names appear on 
the register of members of the Company on Monday, 

10 June 2013. To determine eligibility for the final 
dividend, the register of members of the Company will 
be closed from Friday, 7 June 2013 to Monday, 10 
June 2013 (both days inclusive), during which period 
no shares can be registered. In order to qualify for the 
aforementioned final dividend, all transfers of shares 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must 
be lodged with Computershare, of Shops 1712-16, 
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 
6 June 2013.

sHARe CApItAl
Details of the movements in the share capital of the 
Company during the year are set out in Note 27(c) to 
the financial statements.

CHARItABle DonAtIons
Charitable donations made by the Group during the 
year amounted to HK$144,000 (2011: HK$114,000).

FIXeD Assets
Movements in fixed assets during the year are set out 
in Note 14 to the financial statements.

ReseRves
Details of movements in reserves of the Company 
during the year are set out in Note 27(a) to the financial 
statements. Details of movements in reserves of the 
Group during the year are set out in the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity.

DIReCtoRs
The Directors during the financial year and up to the 
date of this Annual Report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (Chairman)
Mr. Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony
Mr. Yuen Kin
Mr. Ho Te Hwai, Cecil

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Lo Wing Yan, William
Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David
Mr. Hou Ziqiang

In accordance with Bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Yuen 
Kin, Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David and Mr. Hou Ziqiang 
shall retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIReCtoRs’ AnD CHIeF eXeCutIves’ 
InteRests AnD sHoRt posItIons In 
sHARes, unDeRlyIng sHARes AnD 
DeBentuRes
As at 31 December 2012, the interests of the 
Directors and chief executive of the Company and 
their associates in the shares, underlying shares 
and debentures of the Company and its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV 
of the SFO (including interests and short positions 
which they are taken or deemed to have under such 
provisions of the SFO), as recorded in the register 
required to be maintained by the Company under 
Section 352 of the SFO or as required, pursuant to the 
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange were as follows:

Name of 
Director Capacity

Number of
shares in

the Company
held

Approximate
percentage
of the total

issued share
capital of

the Company

Ko Chun
 Shun,
 Johnson

Interest of
 controlled
 corporations

48,579,000
(Notes)

14.98

Notes:

(1)  Rockstead Technology Limited and Omnicorp Limited, both wholly-
owned by Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, held 37,879,000 shares and 
10,700,000 shares of the Company respectively.

(2) The above interests represented long positions.

Other than the aforesaid and as disclosed under the 
section headed “Share Option Schemes and Directors’ 
and Chief Executives’ Rights to Acquire Shares or 
Debentures” below, as at 31 December 2012, none of 
the Directors, chief executives or any of their associates 
had any interests or short positions in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or 
any of its associated corporations as recorded in the 
register required to be kept under Section 352 of Part 
XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

sHARe optIon sCHeMes AnD 
DIReCtoRs’ AnD CHIeF eXeCutIves’ 
RIgHts to ACQuIRe sHARes oR 
DeBentuRes
On 6 June 1991, the Company adopted a share option 
scheme. This is to provide the Group with a flexible 
means of giving incentive to rewarding, remunerating, 
compensating and/or providing benefits to the Group’s 
employees and business associates (the “Participants”). 
It was subsequently amended on 8 June 1999 and 
expired on 5 June 2001. A second share option 
scheme of the Company was adopted on 22 June 
2001 and terminated on 12 May 2003.

A third share option scheme of the Company was 
adopted on 12 May 2003 as an incentive to the 
Participants. This scheme shall be valid and effective 
for a period of ten years ending on 11 May 2013, after 
which no further share options will be granted. The 
Company can grant share options to the Participants 
for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each grant payable 
by the Participants. The maximum number of shares in 
respect of which share options may be granted under 
the third share option scheme and any other schemes 
of the Company may not exceed 10% of the issued 
share capital of the Company at the date of approval 
of the third share option scheme. The maximum 
entitlement of each Participant in the total number 
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of 
share options granted under the third share option 
scheme and any other share option schemes of the 
Company in any 12-month period shall not exceed 
1% of the total number of shares in issue. The third 
share option scheme limit was subsequently refreshed 
by a resolution passed at the annual general meeting 
held on 2 June 2011. The maximum number of share 
options that can be granted by the Company was 
refreshed to 32,342,220 share options.

Subscription price of the shares in relation to a share 
option shall not be less than the higher of (i) the closing 
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotation sheets on the date on which the share 
option is offered to the Participants, which must be 
a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices 
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotation sheets for the 5 trading days immediately 
preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value 
of the shares. There shall be no minimum period for 
which the share options must be held before they are 
exercised but the Board may determine.
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As at the date of this Annual Report, the total number of share options that can be granted was 22,007,720, 
representing 6.78% of the issued share capital of the Company. The total number of shares available for issue under 
the share option schemes as at 31 December 2012 represents 7.67% (2011: 8.03%) of the issued share capital 
of the Company at that date. Further details of the share option schemes are set out in Note 26 to the financial 
statements.

Movements in the Company’s share options during the year are as follows:

Category Date of grant

Number of 
share 

options at 
1 January 

2012

Number of 
share 

options 
granted 

during 
the year

Number of 
share 

options 
cancelled/

lapsed 
during 

the year

Number of 
share 

options 
exercised 

during 
the year

Number 
of share 
options 

at 31 
December 

2012
Exercisable 

period

Price per 
share 

to be paid 
on exercise 

of share 
options

Market 
value 

per share 
at date of 

grant of 
share 

options

Weighted 
average 

closing price 
of share 
options 

immediately 
before 

the dates 
on which 
the share 

options were 
exercised

Directors 

Ko Chun Shun, 
 Johnson

19 December 2005 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000 19 December 2005 to 
18 December 2015

HK$5.73 HK$5.65 N/A

24 June 2010 1,900,000 – – – 1,900,000 (Note 1) HK$2.50 HK$2.50 N/A

Tsoi Tong Hoo, 
 Tony

22 July 2005 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000 22 July 2005 to 
21 July 2015

HK$6.60 HK$6.55 N/A

24 June 2010 1,900,000 – – – 1,900,000 (Note 1) HK$2.50 HK$2.50 N/A

Yuen Kin 24 June 2010 800,000 – – – 800,000 (Note 1) HK$2.50 HK$2.50 N/A

Ho Te Hwai, Cecil 19 December 2005 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000 19 December 2005 to 
18 December 2015

HK$5.73 HK$5.65 N/A

24 June 2010 1,200,000 – – – 1,200,000 (Note 1) HK$2.50 HK$2.50 N/A

Lo Wing Yan, 
 William

24 June 2010 400,000 – – – 400,000 (Note 1) HK$2.50 HK$2.50 N/A

Chau Shing Yim, 
 David

24 June 2010 400,000 – – – 400,000 (Note 1) HK$2.50 HK$2.50 N/A

Hou Ziqiang 24 June 2010 400,000 – – – 400,000 (Note 1) HK$2.50 HK$2.50 N/A

Others 

Chang Chu Cheng 
 (Note 2)

30 October 2002 1,000,000 – (1,000,000)
(Note 3)

– 0 31 October 2002 to 
30 October 2012

HK$4.605 HK$4.35 N/A

21 December 2004 300,000 – – – 300,000 21 December 2004 to 
20 December 2014

HK$7.45 HK$7.45 N/A

19 December 2005 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000 19 December 2005 to 
18 December 2015

HK$5.73 HK$5.65 N/A

Employees 13 September 2002 99,000 – (99,000)
 (Note 3)

– 0 13 September 2002 to 
12 September 2012

HK$3.905 HK$3.85 N/A

6 October 2003 126,000 – – – 126,000 6 October 2003 to 
5 October 2013

HK$7.35 HK$7.35 N/A

20 December 2004 1,697,000 – (3,000) 
(Note 3)

– 1,694,000 20 December 2004 to 
19 December 2014

HK$7.50 HK$7.50 N/A

24 June 2010 3,810,000 – – (50,000) 3,760,000 (Note 1) HK$2.50 HK$2.50 HK$3.62

26,032,000 – (1,102,000) (50,000) 24,880,000

Notes:

(1) Exercisable period:

(i) the first 20% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2016;

(ii) the second 20% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2016;

(iii) the third 20% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2016;

(iv) the fourth 20% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2016; and

(v) the remaining 20% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016.

(2) Dr. Chang Chu Cheng (“Dr. Chang”) retired as Director and became Honorary Chairman on 11 June 2007. The 3,300,000 share options held by Dr. Chang were 
retained until the end of the expiry of the respective exercisable periods of the share options, and reclassified from the category ‘Directors’ to ‘Others’.

(3) The share options are lapsed.

(4) All the interests disclosed above represent long positions.
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Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year 
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to 
any arrangement to enable the Directors or any of their 
spouses or children under eighteen years of age to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares 
in or debentures of the Company or any other body 
corporate.

suBstAntIAl sHAReHolDeRs’ AnD 
otHeR peRsons’ InteRests AnD 
sHoRt posItIons In sHARes AnD 
unDeRlyIng sHARes
As at 31 December 2012, other than the interests 
disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and 
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in 
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in respect 
of Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson and Rockstead 
Technology Limited, so far as is known to the Directors 
and chief executives of the Company, the following 
company had interests and short positions in the 
shares and underlying shares of the Company as 
recorded in the register required to be kept under 
Section 336 of the SFO:

Name Capacity

Number of 
shares in 

the Company 
held

Approximate 
percentage 
of the total 

issued share 
capital of 

the Company

FMR LLC Interest in 
 controlled 
 corporation

19,000,000 
(Note)

5.86

Hof Hoorneman 
 Bankiers N.V.

Interest in 
 controlled 
 corporation

16,437,415 
(Note)

5.07

Note: All the above interests represented long positions.

DIReCtoRs’ seRvICe ContRACts
Messrs. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony 
and Ho Te Hwai, Cecil have entered into management 
agreements w i th the Company wh ich may be 
terminated by either party to the agreements at three 
months’ notice.

Mr. Yuen K in has entered in to a management 
agreement with the Company which may be terminated 
by either party to the agreement at one month’s notice.

Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for 
a period up to 31 December 2013 or such other date 
as agreed by the Independent Non-executive Directors 
and the Company.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting has an unexpired service 
contract which is not determinable by the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without 
payment of compensation, other than normal statutory 
compensation.

DIReCtoRs’ InteRests In ContRACts
No contract of significance to which the Company, or 
any of its subsidiaries was a party, in which a Director 
of the Company had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or 
at any time during the year.

MAnAgeMent ContRACts
No contracts concern ing the management and 
administration of the whole or any substantial part of 
the business of the Company were entered into or 
existed during the year.

pRe-eMptIve RIgHts
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the 
Company’s Bye-laws and the law of Bermuda.

BAnk loAns
Particulars of bank loans of the Group at 31 December 
2012 are set out in Note 24 to the financial statements.
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CApItAlIsAtIon oF InteRest
Particulars of interest expenses was capitalised by the 
Group during the year are set out in Note 5(a).

pRopeRtIes
Particulars of the properties held by the Group are 
shown on page 79 of this Annual Report.

FIve yeAR suMMARy
A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities 
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out 
on page 78 of this Annual Report.

suFFICIenCy oF puBlIC FloAt
Based on the information that is publicly available 
and within the knowledge of the Directors, for the 
year under review, the Company has maintained the 
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

MAJoR CustoMeRs AnD supplIeRs
For the year ended 31 December 2012, the five largest 
customers of the Group accounted for 22% of the 
Group’s total turnover while the largest customer of the 
Group accounted for 8% of the Group’s total turnover. 
In addition, for the year ended 31 December 2012, the 
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 41% 
of the Group’s total purchases while the largest supplier 
of the Group accounted for 16% of the Group’s total 
purchases.

At no time during the year have the Directors or any 
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge 
of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s 
total issued share capital) had any interest in these 
major customers and suppliers.

upDAte on DIReCtoR’s InFoRMAtIon 
unDeR Rule 13.51B(1) oF tHe lIstIng 
Rules
Dr. Lo Wing Yan, Wil l iam, the Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company, was appointed as 
an independent non-executive director of LZYE Group 
plc on 25 July 2012, which is listed on the London 
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David, the Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company, resigned as an 
independent non-executive director of Duoyuan Global 
Water Inc., which is listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange, in April 2012.

puRCHAse, sAle oR ReDeMptIon oF 
tHe CoMpAny’s lIsteD seCuRItIes
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, 
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 
during the year ended 31 December 2012.

ConFIRMAtIon oF InDepenDenCe
The Company has rece ived f rom each o f  the 
Independent Non-execut ive Directors an annual 
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 
of the Listing Rules and considers all the Independent 
Non-executive Directors to be independent.

AuDItoRs
KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for 
reappointment. A resolution for the reappointment of 
KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2013
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Varitronix International Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of Varitronix International Limited (“the Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on 
pages 29 to 77, which comprise the consolidated and 
company statements of financial position as at 31 
December 2012, the consolidated income statement, 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then 
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

DIReCtoRs’ ResponsIBIlIty FoR 
tHe ConsolIDAteD FInAnCIAl 
stAteMents
The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AuDItoR’s ResponsIBIlIty
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consol idated f inancial statements based on our 
audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, 
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda 
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do 
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to 
any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong 
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong 
Kong Inst i tute of Cert i f ied Publ ic Accountants. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

opInIon
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2012 
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

22 March 2013
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Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Turnover 3 2,222,380 2,131,410

Other operating income 4 33,492 23,483

Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (6,855) 25,519

Raw materials and consumables used (1,416,377) (1,366,117)

Staff costs (332,940) (312,027)

Depreciation (86,528) (95,135)

Other operating expenses (229,642) (219,268)

Profit from operations 183,530 187,865

Finance costs 5(a) (2,096) (1,754)

Share of profits less losses of associates 9,341 8,932

Profit before taxation 5 190,775 195,043

Income tax 6(a) (19,940) (27,016)

Profit for the year 170,835 168,027

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 10 170,835 168,027

Non-controlling interests – –

Profit for the year 170,835 168,027

Earnings per share (in HK cents) 12

Basic 52.7 cents 51.9 cents

Diluted 52.4 cents 51.3 cents

The notes on pages 35 to 77 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity 
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 27(b).

ConsolIDAteD InCoMe stAteMent
for the year ended 31 December 2012
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Profit for the year 170,835 168,027

Other comprehensive income for the year (after tax and reclassification adjustments): 11

Foreign currency translation adjustments: net movement in the exchange reserve 11,128 15,167

Available-for-sale securities: net movement in the fair value reserve 5,000 (5,797)

Total comprehensive income for the year 186,963 177,397

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 186,963 177,397

Non-controlling interests – –

Total comprehensive income for the year 186,963 177,397

The notes on pages 35 to 77 form part of these financial statements.

ConsolIDAteD stAteMent oF CoMpReHensIve InCoMe
for the year ended 31 December 2012
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Non-current assets
Fixed assets 14
– Property, plant and equipment 504,459 264,723
–  Interest in leasehold land held for own use under operating leases 13,667 14,284

518,126 279,007
Interest in associates 16 113,917 107,673
Loans receivable 17 82,848 71,918
Other financial assets 18 131,719 203,519
Deferred tax assets 25(b) 479 237

847,089 662,354
Current assets
Trading securities 19 107,578 138,516
Inventories 20 367,450 335,675
Trade and other receivables 21 527,444 437,611
Current tax recoverable 25(a) 1,650 2,845
Cash and cash equivalents 22 464,178 391,479

1,468,300 1,306,126
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 437,405 363,751
Bank loans 24 188,217 153,511
Current tax payable 25(a) 8,745 12,910

634,367 530,172
Net current assets 833,933 775,954
Total assets less current liabilities 1,681,022 1,438,308
Non-current liabilities
Other payables 1,116 2,214
Bank loans 24 129,304 –
Deferred tax liabilities 25(b) 1,534 155
NET ASSETS 1,549,068 1,435,939
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 27(c) 81,049 81,036
Reserves 1,467,775 1,354,659
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders 
 of the Company 1,548,824 1,435,695
Non-controlling interests 244 244
TOTAL EQUITY 1,549,068 1,435,939

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 March 2013

 Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony Ko Chun Shun, Johnson
 Director Director

The notes on pages 35 to 77 form part of these financial statements.

ConsolIDAteD stAteMent oF FInAnCIAl posItIon
at 31 December 2012
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 15 685,398 631,444

Loans receivable 17 82,848 71,918

Other financial assets 18 77,979 154,979

846,225 858,341

Current assets

Other receivables 21 761 739

Cash and cash equivalents 22 2,027 983

2,788 1,722

Current liabilities

Other payables 23 6,731 6,806

Net current liabilities (3,943) (5,084)

NET ASSETS 842,282 853,257

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 27(c) 81,049 81,036

Reserves 27(a) 761,233 772,221

TOTAL EQUITY 842,282 853,257

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 March 2013

 Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony Ko Chun Shun, Johnson
 Director Director

The notes on pages 35 to 77 form part of these financial statements.

stAteMent oF FInAnCIAl posItIon
at 31 December 2012
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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ConsolIDAteD stAteMent oF CHAnges In eQuIty
for the year ended 31 December 2012
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Exchange 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Capital 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Retained 
profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
(note 
27(c))

(note 
27(d)(i))

(note 
27(d)(iii))

(note 
27(d)(iv))

(note 
27(d)(v))

(note 
27(d)(vi))

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2011 80,856 695,336 50,096 14,665 13,916 (32,665) 525,875 1,348,079 8,498 1,356,577

Changes in equity for 2011:

Profit for the year – – – – – – 168,027 168,027 – 168,027

Other comprehensive income 11 – – 15,167 (5,797) – – – 9,370 – 9,370

Total comprehensive income – – 15,167 (5,797) – – 168,027 177,397 – 177,397

Recycle of reserve upon disposal 
 of a subsidiary 4(b) – – – – – 30,320 (30,320) – – –

Derecognition of non-controlling 
 interests upon disposal 
 of a subsidiary 4(c) – – – – – – 8,254 8,254 (8,254) –

Dividends approved in respect 
 of the previous year 27(b)(ii) – – – – – – (67,919) (67,919) – (67,919)

Issue of shares upon exercise 
 of share options 27(c)(ii) 180 2,246 – – (573) – – 1,853 – 1,853

Equity settled share-based 
 transactions – – – – 3,687 – – 3,687 – 3,687

Dividends declared in respect 
 of the current year 27(b)(i) – – – – – – (35,656) (35,656) – (35,656)

Balance at 31 December 2011 and 
 1 January 2012 81,036 697,582 65,263 8,868 17,030 (2,345) 568,261 1,435,695 244 1,435,939

Changes in equity for 2012:

Profit for the year – – – – – – 170,835 170,835 – 170,835

Other comprehensive income 11 – – 11,128 5,000 – – – 16,128 – 16,128

Total comprehensive income – – 11,128 5,000 – – 170,835 186,963 – 186,963

Transfer to surplus reserve – – – – – 4,510 (4,510) – – –

Dividends approved in respect 
 of the previous year 27(b)(ii) – – – – – – (50,250) (50,250) – (50,250)

Issue of shares upon exercise 
 of share options 27(c)(ii) 13 157 – – (45) – – 125 – 125

Equity settled share-based 
 transactions – – – – 2,227 – – 2,227 – 2,227

Dividends declared in respect 
 of the current year 27(b)(i) – – – – – – (25,936) (25,936) – (25,936)

Balance at 31 December 2012 81,049 697,739 76,391 13,868 19,212 2,165 658,400 1,548,824 244 1,549,068

The notes on pages 35 to 77 form part of these financial statements.
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Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Operating activities

Cash generated from 
 operations 22(b) 157,781 159,400

Tax paid

–  Hong Kong Profits  
 Tax paid (7,188) (24,838)

–  People’s Republic of  
 China (“PRC”)  
 income taxes paid (8,087) (15,225)

–  Tax paid in respect of  
 jurisdictions outside  
 Hong Kong and  
 the PRC (6,498) (10,737)

Net cash generated 
 from operating 
 activities 136,008 108,600

Investing activities

Proceeds from disposal 
 of fixed assets 96,656 6,953

Payment for the 
 purchase of 
 fixed assets (295,188) (43,204)

Payment for the 
 purchase of 
 held-to-maturity 
 securities – (23,800)

Proceeds from sale of 
 trading securities 41,623 28,216

Payment for the 
 purchase of trading 
 securities (9,537) (68,876)

Proceeds from 
 repayment of 
 loans receivable – 21,718

Proceeds from disposal 
 of a subsidiary – 38,750

Dividends received from 
 investments in trading 
 and available-for-sale 
 securities 1,165 12,522

Dividends received from 
 associates 4,117 2,303

Interest received 5,931 5,310

Net cash used in 
 investing activities (155,233) (20,108)

Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Financing activities

Issue of shares upon 
 exercise of share 
 options 27(c)(ii) 125 1,853

Proceeds from new 
 bank loans 281,348 420,106

Repayment of bank loans (109,652) (445,804)

Interest paid (5,694) (1,754)

Dividends paid (76,186) (103,575)

Net cash generated 
 from/(used in) 
 financing activities 89,941 (129,174)

Net increase/
 (decrease) in cash 
 and cash equivalents 70,716 (40,682)

Cash and cash 
 equivalents at 
 1 January 391,479 431,331

Effect of foreign 
 exchange rates 
 changes 1,983 830

Cash and cash 
 equivalents at 
 31 December 22(a) 464,178 391,479

The notes on pages 35 to 77 form part of these 
financial statements.

ConsolIDAteD CAsH FloW stAteMent
for the year ended 31 December 2012
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective 
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting 
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted 
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These 
financial statements also comply with the applicable 
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is 
set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised 
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early 
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group 
and the Company. Note 1(c) provides information on 
any changes in accounting policies resulting from 
initial application of these developments to the extent 
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and 
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial 
statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial 
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2012 comprise the Company and 
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) 
and the Group’s interest in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the 
financial statements is the historical cost basis except 
that financial instruments classified as available-for-
sale or as trading securities and derivative financial 
instruments are stated at their fair value (see notes 1(g) 
and (h)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
w i t h  HKFRSs requ i res  managemen t  t o  make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application 
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial 
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty 
are discussed in note 2.

(c) Changes in accounting policies
The HK ICPA has i ssued seve ra l  amendments 
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current 
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Of 
these, none of the developments are relevant to the 
Group’s financial statements.

The Group has not applied any amendments or 
new standard that is not yet effective for the current 
accounting period.

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. 
Control exists when the Group has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are 
taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into 
the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control 
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any 
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way 
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is 
no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a 
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the 
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not 
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those 
interests which would result in the Group as a whole 
having a contractual obligation in respect of those 
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes 
(ContInueD)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-cont ro l l ing in terests are presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position within 
equity, separately from equity attributable to the 
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling 
interests in the results of the Group are presented on 
the face of the consolidated income statement and 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total 
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the 
Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, 
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 
impairment losses (see note 1(k)).

(e) Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group or 
Company has significant influence, but not control 
or joint control, over its management, including 
participation in the financial and operating policy 
decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the 
consolidated financial statements under the equity 
method. Under the equity method, the investment is 
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of 
the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values 
of the associate’s identified net assets over the cost 
of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment 
is adjusted for the post-acquisition change in the 
Group’s share of the associate’s net assets and any 
impairment loss relating to the investment (see notes 
1(f) and (k)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the 
Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results 
of associates and any impairment losses for the year 
are recognised in the consolidated income statement, 
whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition 
post-tax items of associates’ other comprehensive 
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest 
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil 
and recognition of further losses is discontinued.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions 
between the Group and its associates are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates, 
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they 
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence 
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of 
the entire interest in that associate, with a resulting 
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

(f) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) t h e  a g g re g a t e  o f  t h e  f a i r  v a l u e  o f  t h e 
consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the 
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets and l iab i l i t ies measured as at the 
acquisition date.

When ( i i ) is greater than ( i ), then this excess is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a 
bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is 
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of 
cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination and is tested annually 
for impairment (see note 1(k)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the 
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill 
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on 
disposal.

(g) Other investments in debt and equity 
securities

The Group ’s  and the  Company ’s  po l i c i es  fo r 
investments in debt and equity securit ies, other 
than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are  
as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially 
stated at fair value, which is their transaction price 
unless fair value can be more reliably estimated using 
valuation techniques whose variables include only data 
from observable markets. Cost includes attributable 
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise 
below. These investments are subsequently accounted 
for as follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified 
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are 
recognised in the profit or loss as incurred. At the end 
of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, 
with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit 
or loss does not include any dividends or interest 
earned on these investments as these are recognised 
in accordance with the accounting policies set out in 
notes 1(u)(ii) and 1(u)(iii) respectively.
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes 
(ContInueD)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity 
securities (continued)

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the 
Company have the positive ability and intention to hold 
to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities. 
Held-to-maturity securities are stated at amortised cost 
less impairment losses (see note 1(k)).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a 
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair 
value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the 
statement of financial position at cost less impairment 
losses (see note 1(k)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into the 
above category are classified as available-for-sale 
securities. At the end of each reporting period date 
the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain 
or loss being recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated separately in equity in the 
fair value reserve except foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from changes in the amortised cost 
of monetary items such as debt securities which are 
recognised directly in profit or loss. Dividend income 
from these investments is recognised in profit or loss 
in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(u)(ii) 
and, where these investments are interest-bearing, 
interest calculated using the effective interest method 
is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the 
policy set out in note 1(u)(iii). When these investments 
are derecognised or impaired (see note 1(k)), the 
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date 
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or 
they expire.

(h) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially 
at fair value. At the end of each reporting period 
the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on 
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

(i) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see 
note 1(k)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal 
of an item of property, plant and equipment are 
determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are 
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or 
disposal.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant 
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct 
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs 
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring 
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate 
proportion of production overheads and borrowing 
costs (see note 1(x)).

Construction in progress is stated at cost, which 
comprises construction expenditure, including interest 
costs on related borrowed funds, to the extent that 
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs 
during the construction period, and the cost of related 
equipment. Capital isation of these costs ceases 
and the construction in progress is transferred to 
relevant categories of fixed assets when the asset is 
substantially ready for its intended use, notwithstanding 
any delays in the issue of the relevant commissioning 
ce r t i f i ca te by the appropr ia te au thor i t i es .  No 
depreciation is provided in respect of construction in 
progress.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items 
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated 
residual values, if any, using the straight line method 
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

– Land and buildings 40 years

– Plant and machinery 2 to 7 years

– Tools and equipment 2 to 5 years

– Others 2 to 5 years

Where parts of an i tem of property, p lant and 
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or 
valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable 
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated 
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its 
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(j) Leased assets
An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series 
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group 
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to 
use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of 
time in return for a payment or a series of payments. 
Such a determination is made based on an evaluation 
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless 
of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a 
lease.
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes 
(ContInueD)

(j) Leased assets (continued)

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which 
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as being held 
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 
the Group are classified as operating leases, with the 
following exception:

– land held for own use under an operating lease, 
the fair value of which cannot be measured 
separately from the fair value of a building 
situated thereon at the inception of the lease, 
is accounted for as being held under a finance 
lease, unless the building is also clearly held 
under an operating lease. For these purposes, 
the inception of the lease is the time that the 
lease was first entered into by the Group, or 
taken over from the previous lessee.

(ii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under 
operating leases, payments made under the leases are 
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the 
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except 
where an alternative basis is more representative of the 
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. 
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or 
loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease 
payments made.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating 
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. Impairment losses are recognised in 
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 
1(k).

(k) Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity 
securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other 
current and non-current receivables that are stated at 
cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for-sale securities are reviewed at the end of each 
report ing per iod to determine whether there is 
objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence 
of impairment includes observable data that comes to 
the attention of the Group about one or more of the 
following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, 
economic or legal environment that have an 
adverse effect on the debtor; and

– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
of an investment in an equity instrument below 
its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is 
determined and recognised as follows:

– For investments in subsidiaries and associates 
(including those recognised using the equity 
method (see note 1(e))), the impairment loss is 
measured by comparing the recoverable amount 
of the investment with its carrying amount in 
accordance with note 1(k)(ii). The impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable 
change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount in accordance with note 1(k)
(ii).

– For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, 
the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial 
asset and the estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the current market rate of return 
for a similar financial asset, where the effect of 
discounting is material. Impairment losses for 
equity securities at cost are not reversed.

– For trade and other receivables and other 
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the f inancial asset’s original 
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition of the asset), 
where the effect of discounting is material. This 
assessment is made collectively where financial 
assets share similar risk characteristics, such 
as similar past due status, and have not been 
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash 
flows for financial assets which are assessed for 
impairment collectively are based on historical 
loss experience for assets with credit r isk 
characteristics similar to the collective group.
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes 
(ContInueD)

(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity 
securities and other receivables (continued)

 If in a subsequent period the amount of an 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be linked objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised, the 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 
A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which 
would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised in prior years.

– For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative 
loss that had been recognised in the fair value 
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The 
amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised 
in profit or loss is the difference between the 
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment 
and amortisation) and current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss.

 Impairment losses recognised in prof i t  or 
loss in respect of avai lable-for-sale equity 
securities are not reversed through profit or 
loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value 
of such assets is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income.

 Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale 
debt securities are reversed if the subsequent 
increase in fair value can be objectively related 
to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised. Reversal of impairment losses 
in such circumstances are recognised in profit or 
loss.

Impa i rment losses a re wr i t ten o f f  aga ins t  the 
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment 
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and bills 
receivable included within trade and other receivables, 
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. 
In this case, the impairment losses for bad and doubtful 
debts are recorded using an allowance account. When 
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the 
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against 
trade debtors and bills receivable directly and any 
amounts held in the allowance account relating to that 
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously charged to the allowance account are 
reversed against the allowance account. Other changes 
in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in 
profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify 
indications that the following assets may be impaired 
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss 
previously recognised no longer exists or may have 
decreased:

– property, plant and equipment;

– interest in leasehold land held for own use under 
operating leases; and

– goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the 
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or 
not there is any indication of impairment.

– Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater 
of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash 
inf lows largely independent of those from other 
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the 
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating 
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of 
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce 
the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or 
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the 
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its 
individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if 
determinable.

– Reversal of impairment losses

In respect of assets, an impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a favourable change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the asset’s 
carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. 
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or 
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes 
(ContInueD)

(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to 
prepare an interim financial report in compliance with 
HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the 
first six months of the financial year. At the end of the 
interim period, the Group applies the same impairment 
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at 
the end of the financial year (see notes 1(k)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in 
respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity securities 
and unquoted equity securities carried at cost are 
not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case 
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been 
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at 
the end of the financial year to which the interim period 
relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an available-
for-sale equity security increases in the remainder of 
the annual period, or in any other period subsequently, 
the increase is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and not profit or loss.

(l) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out method and 
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion 
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount 
of any write-down of inventories to net realisable 
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which the write-down or 
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the 
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the reversal occurs.

(m) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised 
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less allowance 
for impairment losses of doubtful debts (see note 
1(k)), except where the effect of discounting would be 
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at 
cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

(n) Loans receivable
Loans receivable are recognised initially at fair value and 
thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any identified impairment losses. 
Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is 
objective evidence that the asset is impaired (see note 
1(k)(i)).

(o) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially 
at fair value less attr ibutable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing 
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any 
difference between the amount initially recognised and 
redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings, together with any interest 
and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

(p) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair 
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured 
in accordance with note 1(t)(i), trade and other payables 
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the 
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which 
case they are stated at cost.

(q) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank 
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within 
three months of maturity at acquisition.
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes 
(ContInueD)

(r) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions 
to defined contribution retirement plans

Sa la r i es ,  annua l  bonuses ,  pa id annua l  l eave , 
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in 
the year in which the associated services are rendered 
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred 
and the effect would be material, these amounts are 
stated at their present values.

(ii) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is 
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding 
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value 
is measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted. Where the 
employees have to meet vesting conditions before 
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options, 
the total estimated fair value of the share options is 
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the 
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options 
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting 
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised 
in prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss for 
the year of the review, unless the original employee 
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a 
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On 
vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense 
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share 
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment 
to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only 
due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to 
the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity 
amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either 
the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the 
share premium account) or the option expires (when it 
is released directly to retained profits).

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only 
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to 
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result 
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal 
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

(s) Income tax
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and 
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current 
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that 
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant 
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the 
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible 
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being 
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their 
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax 
liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. 
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition 
of deferred tax assets ar is ing f rom deduct ib le 
temporary differences include those that will arise from 
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, 
provided those differences relate to the same taxation 
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected 
to reverse either in the same period as the expected 
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in 
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred 
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same 
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing 
taxable temporary differences support the recognition 
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses 
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into 
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and 
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in 
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can 
be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences 
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, 
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit, and temporary 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to 
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, 
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it 
is probable that the differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible 
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse 
in the future.
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes 
(ContInueD)

(s) Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured 
based on the expected manner of real isation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax 
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed 
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution 
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the 
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and 
movements therein, are presented separately from 
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are 
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax 
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company 
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the 
following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, 
the Company or the Group intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, 
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each 
future period in which significant amounts 
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are 
expected to be settled or recovered, intend 
to realise the current tax assets and settle 
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or 
realise and settle simultaneously.

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions 
and contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the 
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments 
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the 
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a 
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in 
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the 
fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction 
price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably 
estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income 
within trade and other payables. Where consideration 
is received or receivable for the issuance of the 
guarantee,  the cons idera t ion is  recogn ised in 
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to 
that category of asset. Where no such consideration 
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is 
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any 
deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as 
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over 
the term of the guarantee as income from financial 
guarantees issued. In add i t ion, prov is ions are 
recognised in accordance with note 1(t)(ii) if and when 
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee 
will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (ii) 
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to 
exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other 
payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount 
initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

(ii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other l iabi l i t ies of 
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the 
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. 
Where the time value of money is material, provisions 
are stated at the present value of the expenditure 
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a 
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow 
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence wi l l  only be conf i rmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future 
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless 
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is 
remote.
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes 
(ContInueD)

(u) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fa i r  va lue o f the 
consideration received or receivable. Provided it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can 
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or 
loss as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the 
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in 
time when the customer has accepted the goods and 
the related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue 
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is 
after deduction of returns and any trade discounts.

(ii) Dividends

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised 
when the share pr ice of the secur i ty goes ex-
dividend. Dividend income from unlisted investments 
is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive 
payment is established.

(iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the 
effective interest method.

(v) Research and development
Research and development expenditure is recognised 
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

(w) Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are 
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at 
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting 
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 
transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair 
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of operations outside Hong Kong are 
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange 
rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling 
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial 
position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars 
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the 
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange 
reserve.

On disposal of an operation outside Hong Kong, the 
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating 
to that operation is reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

(x) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of an asset 
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to 
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as 
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs 
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost 
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for 
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being 
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. 
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or 
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to 
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale 
are interrupted or complete.

(y) Related parties
(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s 

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management 
personnel of the Group or the Group’s 
parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the 
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of 
the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is 
related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture 
of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which 
the other entity is a member).
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1. sIgnIFICAnt ACCountIng polICIes 
(ContInueD)

(y) Related parties (continued)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the 
following conditions applies: (continued)

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same 
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity 
and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit 
plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the Group or an entity related to the 
Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled 
by a person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant 
influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the 
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those 
family members who may be expected to influence, 
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with 
the entity.

(z) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment 
item reported in the financial statements, are identified 
from the financial information provided regularly to the 
Group’s most senior executive management for the 
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the 
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business 
and geographical locations.

Individual ly material operating segments are not 
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and 
are similar in respect of the nature of products and 
services, the nature of production processes, the type 
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute 
the products or provide the services and the nature of 
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which 
are not individually material may be aggregated if they 
share a majority of these criteria.

2. ACCountIng JuDgeMent AnD 
estIMAtes

Notes 9, 18, 26 and 28(g) contain information about 
assumptions and their risk factors relating to valuation 
of other non-current financial assets, fair value of share 
options granted and financial instruments. Other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Impairment of assets
Internal and external sources of information are 
reviewed by the Group at the end of each reporting 
period to assess whether there is any indication that 
an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to 
determine impairment losses on the asset. Changes 
in facts and circumstances may result in revisions to 
the conclusion of whether an indication of impairment 
exists and revised estimates of recoverable amounts, 
which would affect profit or loss in future years.

(b) Write-down of inventories
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the 
inventories at the end of each reporting period to 
determine whether the inventories are carried at lower 
of cost and net realisable value in accordance with 
the accounting policy set out in note 1(l). Management 
estimates net realisable value based on the current 
market situation and historical experience on similar 
inventories. Any change in the assumptions would 
increase or decrease the amount of inventories write-
down or the related reversal of write-down made in 
prior years and affect the Group’s net asset value and 
profit or loss.

(c) Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a 
straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets. The Group reviews the estimated useful 
lives and residual values of the assets annually in order 
to determine the amount of depreciation expense to 
be recorded during any reporting period. The useful 
lives and residual values are based on the Group’s 
technological experience with similar assets and taking 
into account anticipated technological changes. The 
depreciation expense for future periods is adjusted if 
there are significant changes from previous estimations.

(d) Recognition of deferred tax assets
The Group has recognised deferred tax assets which 
arose from deductible temporary differences as set out 
in note 25(b). The realisability of the deferred tax assets 
mainly depends on whether it is probable that future 
taxable profits or taxable temporary differences will 
be available against which the assets can be utilised. 
In case where the actual future taxable profits or 
taxable temporary differences generated are less than 
expected, a reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, 
which will be recognised in profit or loss for the period 
in which such a reversal takes place.
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3. tuRnoveR
The principal activity of the Company is investment 
holding. The principal activities of the Group are the 
design, manufacture and sale of liquid crystal displays 
and related products.

Turnover represents the invoiced value of goods 
supplied to customers by the Group less returns and 
discounts.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and no 
customer with transactions which exceeded 10% of 
the Group’s revenues (2011: Nil). In 2012 revenues 
from sales to the largest customer in terms of sales 
amount, including sales to entities which are known 
to the Group to be under common control with such 
customer, amounted to approximately $186,439,000 
(2011: $173,309,000). Details of concentrations of 
credit risk arising from this customer are set out in note 
28(a).

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities 
are disclosed in note 13 to these financial statements.

4. otHeR opeRAtIng InCoMe

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Dividend income from listed 
 equity securities 1,165 12,522

Interest income from listed debt 
 securities 1,880 1,621

Interest income from non-listed 
 debt securities 7,343 6,318

Other interest income 1,361 1,378

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of 
 fixed assets (note (a)) 87,820 (992)

Reversal of liabilities recognised 
 in respect of a disposal of 
 a subsidiary (note (b)) – 83,860

Net gain on disposal of 
 subsidiaries (note (c)) – 36,689

Impairment loss on 
 non-listed available-for-sale 
 equity securities (note 9) (77,000) –

Net realised and unrealised 
 losses on trading securities (9,184) (135,000)

Net exchange gain/(loss) 18,678 (4,848)

Other income 1,429 21,935

33,492 23,483

(a) Net gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed 
assets

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group 
disposed of certain properties to independent third 
parties at a consideration of $95,356,000 which 
resulted in a net gain of $86,918,000 included in net 
gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets.

(b) Reversal of liabilities recognised in prior 
years in respect of a disposal of a subsidiary

In August 2011, the liquidation process of a subsidiary 
of the Group, Varitronix Pengyuan Electronics Limited 
(“Varitronix Pengyuan”), had been concluded upon a 
declaration of bankruptcy under the relevant legislation. 
There were no claims made against the Group in 
the capacity of the then shareholders of Varitronix 
Pengyuan. The Company’s directors (the “Directors”) 
considered that upon the liquidation of Varitronix 
Pengyuan, there were no obligations for the Group 
to settle the liabilities borne by Varitronix Pengyuan 
amounted to $83,860,000. Accordingly, such liabilities 
were derecognised and a reversal was credited to 
the profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 
2011.

Upon the conclusion of liquidation process of Varitronix 
Pengyuan, the other reserve amounted to $30,320,000, 
representing the consideration paid in excess of the 
net assets attributable to the non-controlling interests 
at the time of acquisition of such interests in Varitronix 
Pengyuan, had been transferred to retained earnings.

(c) Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries
During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group 
disposed of its 100% equity interest in a subsidiary 
which held certain non-listed equity securities (see note 
18) at a consideration of $38,750,000 which resulted 
in a net gain of $37,385,000 in the profit or loss. The 
Group also disposed of its equity interest in certain 
subsidiaries which were dormant with insignificant 
assets and liabilities. The disposals were made with 
a resultant loss on disposal amounting to $696,000. 
Upon the completion of this disposal, the Group 
obtained a waiver from the non-controlling shareholders 
in respect of servicing their interests in the net assets 
of the disposed subsidiary. Such waiver was related to 
net assets amounted to $8,254,000 and transferred 
from non-controlling interests to retained earnings 
directly within equity.
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5. pRoFIt BeFoRe tAXAtIon
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(a) Finance costs

Interest on bank advances 
 and other borrowings 
 wholly repayable within 
 five years 5,694 1,754

Less:  interest expense  
 capitalised into  
 construction in  
 progress* (3,598) –

2,096 1,754

* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 
1.49% – 1.58% per annum (2011: Nil).

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(b) Impairment losses 
 recognised/(written-
 back)

Trade and other 
 receivables in respect 
 of:

–  allowance for doubtful  
 debts 590 1,204

–  allowance for sales  
 return provision (92) 2,733

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

(c) Other items

Cost of inventories 
 (note 20(b)) 1,751,141 1,631,132

Auditors’ remuneration:
 –  audit services fees 3,220 3,925

 –  non-audit services fees 300 –

Research and 
 development costs 164,739 128,722

Operating lease charges: 
 minimum lease 
  payments 
  –  hire of assets  

 (including property  
 rentals) 3,036 2,794

Contributions to defined 
 contribution retirement 
 plans 17,652 17,373

Equity-settled 
 share-based 
 payment expenses
 (note 26) 2,227 3,687

6. InCoMe tAX In tHe ConsolIDAteD 
InCoMe stAteMent

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income 
statement represents:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current tax – Hong Kong 
 Profits Tax

Provision for the year 7,113 8,264

Over-provision in respect of 
 prior years (5,263) (3,345)

1,850 4,919

Current tax – the PRC 
 income taxes

Provision for the year 10,477 15,230

Over-provision in respect of 
 prior years (1,656) (4)

8,821 15,226

Current tax – Jurisdictions 
 outside Hong Kong and 
 the PRC

Provision for the year 8,135 10,092

Over-provision in respect of 
 prior years (3) (229)

8,132 9,863

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of 
 temporary differences 
 (note 25(b)) 1,137 (2,992)

19,940 27,016

(i) Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2012 is 
calculated at 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) of the estimated 
assessable profits for the year.

(ii) PRC income taxes

According to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the 
PRC with effective on 1 January 2008, the standard 
corporate income tax rate for enterprises in the PRC 
is 25%.
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6. InCoMe tAX In tHe ConsolIDAteD 
InCoMe stAteMent (ContInueD)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income 
statement represents: (continued)

(ii) PRC income taxes (continued)

Var i t ron ix (Heyuan) Disp lay Technology L imi ted 
(“Varitronix Heyuan”), a subsidiary of the Group, had 
been granted a tax holiday where it is fully exempted 
from the PRC Corporate Income Tax for two years 
from its first profit-making year of operations and then 
subject to a reduced tax rate at 50% of the applicable 
income tax rate for the following three years. Varitronix 
Heyuan has its first profit-making year for tax purpose 
in the calendar year ended 31 December 2008 and the 
applicable tax rate for the year ended 31 December 
2012 is 12.5% (2011: 12.5%).

On 22 November 2012, Var i t ronix Heyuan was 
designated as high and new technology enterprise, 
which qualified for a reduced Corporate Income Tax 
rate of 15%, and such status is valid for the three years 
ending 31 December 2015.

Withholding tax is levied on dividend distributions 
arising from profit of the Group’s subsidiaries operating 
in the PRC earned after 1 January 2008 based on an 
applicable tax rate at 5%.

(iii) Jurisdictions outside Hong Kong and the PRC

Taxation for subsidiaries with operations outside Hong 
Kong and the PRC is charged at the appropriate 
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and 
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Profit before taxation 190,775 195,043

Notional tax expense on profit 
 before taxation, calculated 
 at the rates applicable to 
 profits in the tax jurisdictions 
 concerned 28,345 36,582

Tax effect of non-deductible 
 expenses 14,590 4,456

Tax effect of non-taxable income (11,471) (9,532)

Tax effect of prior year’s tax 
 losses utilised this year (196) (36)

Tax effect of tax rates 
 differentials in respect of tax 
 expenses for jurisdictions 
 outside local operations (4,668) –

Tax effect of unused tax losses 
 not recognised 262 782

Reversal of tax liabilities in 
 respect of unremitted earnings 
 in relation to prior years – (1,658)

Over-provisions in respect of 
 prior years (6,922) (3,578)

Actual tax expense 19,940 27,016
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7. DIReCtoRs’ ReMuneRAtIon
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the 
requirements of the Listing Rules is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2011

Directors’ 
fees

$’000

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind
$’000

Discretionary 
bonuses

$’000

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
$’000

Share-based 
payments

$’000
Total

$’000

Executive Directors

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson – 2,811 400 120 621 3,952

Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony – 5,400 4,000 240 621 10,261

Ho Te Hwai, Cecil – 1,540 300 12 392 2,244

Yuen Kin – 2,160 300 12 261 2,733

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lo Wing Yan, William 200 – – – 131 331

Hou Ziqiang 200 – – – 131 331

Chau Shing Yim, David 200 – – – 131 331

Total 600 11,911 5,000 384 2,288 20,183

Year ended 31 December 2012

Directors’ 
fees

$’000

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

$’000

Discretionary 
bonuses

$’000

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
$’000

Share-based 
payments

$’000
Total
$’000

Executive Directors

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson – 2,779 400 120 370 3,669

Tsoi Tong Hoo, Tony – 5,200 4,000 240 370 9,810

Ho Te Hwai, Cecil – 1,440 300 12 233 1,985

Yuen Kin – 2,080 300 14 156 2,550

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lo Wing Yan, William 200 – – – 78 278

Hou Ziqiang 200 – – – 78 278

Chau Shing Yim, David 200 – – – 78 278

Total 600 11,499 5,000 386 1,363 18,848
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8. InDIvIDuAls WItH HIgHest 
eMoluMents

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, 
four (2011: four) are Directors, whose emoluments are 
disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments 
in respect of the other one (2011: one) individual is as 
follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Salaries and allowances 1,831 1,593

Retirement scheme contributions 96 92

1,927 1,685

9. IMpAIRMent loss on non-lIsteD 
AvAIlABle-FoR-sAle eQuIty 
seCuRItIes

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the non-
listed available-for-sale equity securities, which is 
carried at cost, represents 10.42% equity interest (the 
“Investment”) in a private company (the “Investee”) 
held by the Group. When preparing the Company’s 
financial statements, the Directors became aware 
that the Investee incurred operating loss and failed to 
meet the business forecast for the period as a result 
of the adverse operating environment. The Directors 
considered that the existence of the above conditions 
indicated that the Investment might be impaired. In 
view of this, the Directors have engaged a professional 
appraiser to estimate the future cash flows based on 
the revised business plan of the Investee, discounted 
at the current market rate of return for a similar 
financial asset (the “Estimate Future Cash Flows”). 
After comparing the carrying amount of the Investment 
and the Estimated Future Cash Flows of $78,000,000, 
the Directors determined that it is appropriate to 
recognise an impairment loss of $77,000,000 (note 4). 
The impairment on other non-current financial assets 
carried at cost is not reversed.

The Estimated Future Cash Flows are based on the 
Directors’ best estimates and are measured based on 
the following assumptions:

Discount rate 15.9%

Terminal growth rate 1.0%

10. pRoFIt AttRIButABle to eQuIty 
sHAReHolDeRs oF tHe CoMpAny

The conso l ida ted pro f i t  a t t r ibu tab le to equ i t y 
shareholders of the Company includes a loss of 
$62,141,000 (2011: profit of $338,000) which has been 
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the Company’s 
profit for the year:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Amount of consolidated 
 profit attributable to equity 
 shareholders dealt with 
 in the Company’s financial 
 statements (62,141) 338

Dividends from subsidiaries 
 attributable to the profits of 
 subsidiaries, approved and 
 paid during the year 125,000 86,000

Company’s profit for the year 
 (note 27(a)) 62,859 86,338

11. otHeR CoMpReHensIve InCoMe
There are no tax effects in respect of the components 
of other comprehensive income.

Components of other comprehensive income including 
reclassification adjustments are as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Foreign currency translation 
 adjustments:

Exchange differences on 
 translation of financial 
 statements of operations 
 outside Hong Kong 11,128 15,334

Transfer to profit or loss upon 
 disposal of operations 
 outside Hong Kong – (167)

Net movement in the 
 exchange reserve during 
 the year recognised in other 
 comprehensive income 11,128 15,167

Available-for-sale securities:

Changes in fair value recognised 
 during the year 5,000 (5,797)
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12. eARnIngs peR sHARe

(a) Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based 
on the consol idated profit attr ibutable to equity 
shareholders of the Company of $170,835,000 (2011: 
$168,027,000) and the weighted average number of 
shares of 324,183,560 shares (2011: 323,713,973 
shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2012 2011

Issued ordinary shares at 
 1 January 324,145,204 323,422,204

Effect of share options 
 exercised (note 27(c)(ii)) 38,356 291,769

Weighted average number 
 of ordinary shares at 
 31 December 324,183,560 323,713,973

(b) Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based 
on the consol idated profit attr ibutable to equity 
shareholders of the Company of $170,835,000 (2011: 
$168,027,000) and the weighted average number of 
shares of 325,748,687 shares (2011: 327,234,423 
shares), calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

2012 2011

Weighted average number 
 of ordinary shares
 at 31 December 324,183,560 323,713,973

Effect of deemed issue of 
 shares under the 
 Company’s share option 
 scheme for nil 
 consideration (note 26) 1,565,127 3,520,450

Weighted average number 
 of ordinary shares 
 (diluted) at 31 December 325,748,687 327,234,423

13. segMent RepoRtIng

(a) Operating segment results
The Group manages its business as a single unit 
and, accordingly, the design, manufacture and sale of 
liquid crystal displays and related products is the only 
reporting segment and virtually all of the turnover and 
operating profits is derived from this business segment. 
The consolidated financial statements are already 
presented in a manner consistent with the way in 
which information is reported internally to the Group’s 
most senior executive management for the purposes 
of resource allocation and performance assessment. 
Accordingly, no separate business segment information 
is disclosed.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified 
as the Board. The Board reviews the Group’s internal 
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate 
resources. Management has determined that a single 
operating segment exists based on this internal 
reporting.

The Board assesses the performance of the operating 
segments based on turnover which is consistent with 
that in the consolidated financial statements. Other 
information, being the total assets excluding deferred 
tax assets, loans receivable, other financial assets, 
trading securities, current tax recoverable and the 
interest in associates, all of which are managed on a 
central basis, are provided to the Board to assess the 
performance of the operating segment.

(b) Geographic information
The following table sets out information about the 
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenues from 
external customers and (ii) the Group’s fixed assets and 
interest in associates (“specified non-current assets”). 
The geographical location of customers is based on 
the location at which the services were provided or 
the goods delivered. The geographical location of the 
specified non-current assets is based on the physical 
location of the asset, in the case of property, plant and 
equipment and the location of operations, in the case 
of interest in associates.

(i) Group’s revenues from external customers

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Europe 857,730 886,000

Hong Kong and the PRC 
 (places of domicile) 674,728 566,542

America 290,195 264,081

Korea 256,442 278,384

Others 143,285 136,403

Consolidated turnover 2,222,380 2,131,410
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13. segMent RepoRtIng (ContInueD)

(b) Geographic information (continued)

(i) Group’s revenues from external customers 
 (continued)

Revenue from external customers located in Europe is 
analysed as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

France 192,451 224,786

Germany 116,795 149,958

United Kingdom 91,375 65,484

Italy 73,212 71,288

Other European countries 383,897 374,484

857,730 886,000

(ii) Group’s specified non-current assets

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Hong Kong and the PRC 
 (place of domicile) 514,910 275,649

Germany 109,481 103,935

Korea 4,436 3,738

Others 3,216 3,358

632,043 386,680

14. FIXeD Assets

The Group

Land and 
buildings 

held for 
own use

$’000

Construction 
in progress

$’000

Plant, 
machinery, 

tools and 
equipment

$’000
Others

$’000
Sub-total

$’000

Interest in 
leasehold 
land held 

for own 
use under 
operating 

leases
$’000

Total
$’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2011 92,444 – 855,253 167,080 1,114,777 11,258 1,126,035

Exchange adjustments 2,539 – 19,333 3,559 25,431 318 25,749

Additions – – 28,499 5,557 34,056 9,148 43,204

Disposals – – (34,945) (6,054) (40,999) – (40,999)

At 31 December 2011 94,983 – 868,140 170,142 1,133,265 20,724 1,153,989

At 1 January 2012 94,983 – 868,140 170,142 1,133,265 20,724 1,153,989

Exchange adjustments 638 – 4,087 831 5,556 138 5,694

Additions 1,809 73,655 254,332 6,786 336,582 – 336,582

Disposals (15,315) – (18,486) (30,599) (64,400) – (64,400)

At 31 December 2012 82,115 73,655 1,108,073 147,160 1,411,003 20,862 1,431,865
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14. FIXeD Assets (ContInueD)

The Group (continued)

Land and 
buildings 

held for 
own use

Construction 
in progress

Plant, 
machinery, 

tools and 
equipment Others Sub-total

Interest in 
leasehold 
land held 

for own 
use under 
operating 

leases Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accumulated 
 amortisation and 
 depreciation:

At 1 January 2011 28,270 – 634,949 136,117 799,336 5,670 805,006

Exchange adjustments 635 – 11,389 2,688 14,712 94 14,806

Charge for the year 2,893 – 82,930 8,636 94,459 676 95,135

Written back on 
 disposals – – (33,949) (6,016) (39,965) – (39,965)

At 31 December 2011 31,798 – 695,319 141,425 868,542 6,440 874,982

At 1 January 2012 31,798 – 695,319 141,425 868,542 6,440 874,982

Exchange adjustments 198 – 6,417 1,156 7,771 22 7,793

Charge for the year 2,916 – 74,449 8,430 85,795 733 86,528

Written back on 
 disposals (7,885) – (17,358) (30,321) (55,564) – (55,564)

At 31 December 2012 27,027 – 758,827 120,690 906,544 7,195 913,739

Net book value:

At 31 December 2012 55,088 73,655 349,246 26,470 504,459 13,667 518,126

At 31 December 2011 63,185 – 172,821 28,717 264,723 14,284 279,007

(a) Other fixed assets comprise mainly leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures, office equipment and motor 
vehicles.

(b) The analysis of the net book value of properties is as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

In Hong Kong

– medium-term leases 275 7,442

Outside Hong Kong

– freehold 7,641 7,941

– medium-term leases 60,839 62,086

68,480 70,027

68,755 77,469

Representing:

Land and buildings held for own use 55,088 63,185

Interest in leasehold land held for own use under operating leases 13,667 14,284

68,755 77,469
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15. InvestMents In suBsIDIARIes

The Company
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Non-listed shares, at cost 101,453 101,453

Amounts due from subsidiaries 583,945 529,991

685,398 631,444

All of these are controlled subsidiaries as defined under note 1(d) and have been consolidated into the Group’s 
financial statements.

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment terms but the 
Company will not demand repayment within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

The following list contains only particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of 
the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Proportion of 
ownership interest

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/ 

operation

Particulars of issued 
share capital/

registered capital

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held 
by the 

Company
Held by a 

subsidiary Principal activities

In Achieve Investments 
 Limited

British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

1,000 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100% – 100% Holding of investment 
securities

Link Score Investment 
 Limited

Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares 
of $1 each

100% – 100% Investment holding

Polysources Properties 
 Limited

Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 
$100 each 154 

non-voting deferred 
ordinary shares 

of $100 each

100% – 100% Property holding 

Starel Trading Limited Republic of Cyprus/
United Kingdom

1,000 shares 
of €1.71 each

100% – 100% Property holding 

Varitronix Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 
$1,000 each 1,848 
non-voting deferred 

ordinary shares 
of $1,000 each

100% – 100% Design and sale of liquid 
crystal displays and 

related products 

Varitronix (B.V.I.) Limited British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

18,480 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100% 100% – Investment holding 
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15. InvestMents In suBsIDIARIes (ContInueD)

The following list contains only particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of 
the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. (continued)

Proportion of 
ownership interest

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/ 

operation

Particulars of issued 
share capital/

registered capital

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held 
by the 

Company
Held by a 

subsidiary Principal activities

Varitronix Finance Limited British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

100 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100% – 100% Provision of financial 
co-ordination services 

for group companies 
and holding of 

investment securities 

Varitronix France SAS France 2,500 ordinary shares 
of €15.25 each

100% – 100% Marketing and sales 
consultants 

Varitronix GmbH Germany 100,000 shares 
of €0.51 each

100% – 100% Marketing and sales 
consultants 

# Varitronix (Heyuan) Display  
 Technology Limited

The People’s Republic 
of China

Paid-up registered 
capital 

RMB632,634,987

100% – 100% Manufacture and sale of 
liquid crystal displays 
and related products 

Varitronix Investment 
 Limited

British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

5,000 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100% – 100% Holding of investment 
securities 

Varitronix Italy s.r.l. Italy 12,000 ordinary shares 
of €1 each

100% – 100% Marketing and sales 
consultants 

Varitronix (Macao 
 Commercial Offshore) 
 Limited

Macau Registered capital 
MOP100,000

100% – 100% Trading of electronic 
components 

Varitronix (Switzerland) 
 GmbH

Switzerland Registered capital 
CHF30,000

100% – 100% Marketing and sales 
consultants 

Varitronix (U.K.) Limited United Kingdom 100 ordinary shares 
of GBP10 each

100% – 100% Marketing and sales 
consultants 

VL Electronics, Inc. United States 5,000 common stock 
of US$10 each

100% – 100% Marketing and sales 
consultants

# Name of company Type of legal entity

Varitronix (Heyuan) Display Technology Limited Wholly owned foreign enterprise
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16. InteRest In AssoCIAtes

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Share of net assets 112,625 106,487

Amount due from an associate 1,292 1,186

113,917 107,673

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed repayment terms but the Group will 
not require repayment within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

(a) Particulars of the associates
Set out below are the particulars of the associates, which principally affected the results or assets of the Group:

Name of associate

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Particulars 
of issued 

share capital/
registered capital

Attributable 
indirect equity 

interest % held Principal activity

New On Technology 
 Company Limited

Korea 40,000 ordinary shares 
of KRW5,000 each

50% Trading of electronic 
components 

Data Modul AG* 
 (“Data Modul”)

Germany 3,417,238 common 
stock of no-par value 

bearer shares

20% Manufacturing of complete 
flat display monitors in liquid 
crystal displays and plasma 
technology for the industrial 

and professional areas

* Data Modul’s shares are listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The market price of Data Modul’s shares as 
at 31 December 2012 was Euro 17.00 (2011: Euro 11.50) per share. The market value of the Group’s effective 
interest in Data Modul as at 31 December 2012 is Euro 11,989,000 (2011: Euro 8,110,000) (equivalent to 
$122,767,000 (2011: $81,589,000)).

(b) Summary of financial information on associates

Assets
$’000

Liabilities
$’000

Equity
$’000

Revenues
$’000

Profits
$’000

2012

100 percent 889,877 (336,184) 553,693 1,424,860 55,581

Group’s effective interest 180,726 (68,101) 112,625 292,213 9,341

2011

100 percent 857,813 (333,034) 524,779 1,181,443 46,185

Group’s effective interest 173,987 (67,500) 106,487 240,517 8,932



56 Varitronix international limited

Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

17. loAns ReCeIvABle
Loans receivable represent loans which are unsecured, interest bearing at 4% per annum and are originally repayable 
in May 2013. The Company has been in progress of negotiation with the borrower for a refinancing arrangement 
which is expected to defer the repayment date beyond twelve months from 31 December 2012. The Directors 
consider that these loans will be recoverable in full.

The loans receivable are repayable as follows:

The Group The Company
2012

$’000
2011

$’000
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

After 1 year but within 5 years 82,848 71,918 82,848 71,918

18. otHeR non-CuRRent FInAnCIAl Assets

The Group The Company
2012

$’000
2011

$’000
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Available-for-sale debt securities

Listed outside Hong Kong, carried at fair value 8,712 7,983 – –

Available-for-sale mutual funds

Non-listed, carried at fair value 6,556 5,209 – –

Available-for-sale equity securities

Listed in Hong Kong 13,672 10,748 – –

Non-listed, carried at cost 77,979 154,979 77,979 154,979

91,651 165,727 77,979 154,979

Held-to-maturity debt securities

Listed outside Hong Kong, carried at amortised cost 24,800 24,600 – –

Total other non-current financial assets 131,719 203,519 77,979 154,979

The held-to-maturity debt securities are not past due or impaired. The listed debt securities are issued by a 
corporate entity.

Movements in other non-current financial assets are as follows:

The Group The Company
2012

$’000
2011

$’000
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

At 1 January 203,519 186,083 154,979 154,979

Additions – 23,800 – –

Exchange adjustments 200 798 – –

Disposals – (1,365) – –

Impairment loss recognised (77,000) – (77,000) –

Revaluation surplus/(deficit) 5,000 (5,797) – –

Total 131,719 203,519 77,979 154,979
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18. otHeR non-CuRRent FInAnCIAl 
Assets (ContInueD)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the 
Group entered into a share transfer agreement with 
an independent third party under which the Group 
disposed of its entire 100% equity interest in a 
subsidiary which held a non-listed equity investment 
carried at cost. The transaction was completed on 
28 December 2011 and the disposed subsidiary had 
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group since then. The 
resulted gain on disposal of $37,385,000 (note 4(c)), 
which mainly represented the accumulated fair value 
gain of the non-listed equity investment held by the 
disposed subsidiary, was recognised in profit or loss 
during the year ended 31 December 2011.

19. tRADIng seCuRItIes

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Listed debt securities at 
 fair value

– outside Hong Kong 3,859 2,885

Listed equity securities at 
 fair value

– in Hong Kong 103,719 123,868

– outside Hong Kong – 11,763

103,719 135,631

Total 107,578 138,516

20. InventoRIes

(a) Inventories in the statement of financial 
position comprise:

The Group

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Raw materials 180,130 141,500

Work in progress 79,930 94,716

Finished goods 107,390 99,459

367,450 335,675

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories 
recognised as an expense is as follows:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Carrying amount of 
 inventories sold 1,774,555 1,636,275

Write-down of inventories 1,016 244

Reversal of write-down 
 of inventories (24,430) (5,387)

1,751,141 1,631,132

The reversal of write-down of inventories made in 
prior years is due to an increase in the estimated net 
realisable value of certain thin-film transistor liquid 
crystal displays as a result of changes in customer 
preferences.
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21. tRADe AnD otHeR ReCeIvABles

The Group The Company
2012

$’000
2011

$’000
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Trade debtors and bills receivable 472,337 416,018 – –

Less:  Allowance for doubtful debts (2,475) (1,885) – –

 Allowance for sales returns (5,168) (5,260) – –

464,694 408,873 – –

Other receivables 49,618 15,177 422 405

Deposits and prepayments 13,132 13,561 339 334

527,444 437,611 761 739

Except for the Group’s rental deposit of $1,020,000 (2011: Nil), all of the trade and other receivables are expected 
to be recovered or recognised as expense within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

(a) Ageing analysis
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable which are included in 
trade and other receivables, based on the invoice date and net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Within 60 days of the invoice issue date 348,397 294,504

61 to 90 days after the invoice issue date 75,333 70,090

91 to 120 days after the invoice issue date 27,836 27,981

More than 120 days but less than 12 months after the invoice issue date 13,128 16,298

464,694 408,873

Trade debtors and bills receivable are generally due within 60 to 90 days from the date of billing. Further details on 
the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 28(a).
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21. tRADe AnD otHeR ReCeIvABles 
(ContInueD)

(b) Impairment of trade debtors and bills 
receivable

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors and bills 
receivable are recorded using an allowance account 
unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the 
amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss 
is written off against trade debtors and bills receivable 
directly (see note 1(k)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts 
during the year, including both specific and collective 
loss components, is as follows:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

At 1 January 1,885 681

Impairment loss recognised 590 1,204

At 31 December 2,475 1,885

The movement in the allowance for sales returns 
during the year, including both specific and collective 
estimation of sales returns, is as follows:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

At 1 January 5,260 2,527

Allowance for sales returns 
 (reversed)/recognised (92) 2,733

At 31 December 5,168 5,260

At 31 December 2012, the Group’s trade debtors and 
bills receivable of $2,475,000 (2011: $1,885,000) were 
individually determined to be impaired. The individually 
impaired receivables related to customers those were 
in financial difficulties and management assessed that 
none of the receivables is expected to be recovered. 
Consequently, specific allowances for doubtful debts of 
$2,475,000 (2011: $1,885,000) were recognised.

(c) Trade debtors and bills receivable that 
are not impaired

The ageing analys is of t rade debtors and bi l ls 
receivable that are neither individually nor collectively 
considered to be impaired are as follows:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 348,999 295,533

Less than 1 month 76,447 70,639

1 to 2 months 28,096 28,180

More than 2 months but 
 less than 12 months 16,320 19,781

120,863 118,600

469,862 414,133

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired 
related to a wide range of customers for whom there 
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related 
to a number of independent customers that have a 
good track record with the Group. Based on past 
experience, management believes that no impairment 
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as 
there has not been a significant change in credit quality 
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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22. CAsH AnD CAsH eQuIvAlents

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

The Group The Company
2012

$’000
2011

$’000
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 83,110 141,424 – –

Cash at bank and in hand 381,068 250,055 2,027 983

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position and 
 consolidated cash flow statement 464,178 391,479 2,027 983

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Profit before taxation 190,775 195,043

Adjustments for:

 Depreciation 86,528 95,135

 Finance costs 5(a) 2,096 1,754

 Dividend income from listed equity securities 4 (1,165) (12,522)

 Interest income (10,584) (9,317)

 Net realised and unrealised losses on trading securities 4 9,184 135,000

 Impairment loss on non-listed available-for-sale equity securities 4 77,000 –

 Share of profits less losses of associates (9,341) (8,932)

 Net (gain)/loss on disposal of fixed assets 4 (87,820) 992

 Reversal of liabilities recognised in respect of a disposal of a subsidiary 4 – (83,860)

 Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 4 – (36,689)

 Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 5(c) 2,227 3,687

 Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (6,339) 3,177

252,561 283,468

Changes in working capital:

 Increase in inventories (30,855) (49,782)

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (88,658) 5,147

 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 24,733 (79,433)

Cash generated from operations 157,781 159,400
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23. tRADe AnD otHeR pAyABles

The Group The Company
2012

$’000
2011

$’000
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Trade creditors 321,071 296,080 – –

Accrued charges and other payables 116,334 67,671 6,731 6,806

437,405 363,751 6,731 6,806

All creditors and accrued charges of the Group are expected to be settled or recognised as income within one year 
or are repayable on demand.

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable (which are included in 
trade and other payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Within 60 days of supplier invoice date 254,039 243,212

61 to 120 days after supplier invoice date 63,079 49,425

More than 120 days but within 12 months after supplier invoice date 3,630 3,161

More than 12 months after supplier invoice date 323 282

321,071 296,080

24. BAnk loAns
At 31 December 2012, the unsecured, interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are repayable as follows:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Within 1 year or on demand 188,217 153,511

After 1 year but within 2 years 91,318 –

After 2 years but within 5 years 37,986 –

317,521 153,511

All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to the Group’s statement 
of financial position ratios which are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. In the 
event that the Group breaches the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. The 
Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. Such banking facilities amounted to $730,472,000 
(2011: $292,000,000) as at 31 December 2012. The facilities were utilised to the extent of $317,521,000 (2011: 
$153,511,000). Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 28(b). As at 31 
December 2012 and 2011, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities has been breached.
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25. InCoMe tAX In tHe stAteMent oF FInAnCIAl posItIon

(a) Current taxation in the statement of financial position represents:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 7,113 8,264

Provisional Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (7,536) (7,840)

(423) 424

Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax relating to prior years 4,722 9,213

Taxation in respect of PRC income taxes 3,408 2,674

Taxation in respect of jurisdictions outside Hong Kong and the PRC (612) (2,246)

7,095 10,065

Current tax recoverable (1,650) (2,845)

Current tax payable 8,745 12,910

7,095 10,065

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

The Group

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation 
allowances 

in excess of 
the related 

depreciation
$’000

Provisions 
$’000

Unremitted 
earnings

$’000
Total
$’000

Deferred tax arising from:

At 1 January 2011 (22) (113) 3,045 2,910

Charged/(credited) to profit or loss (note 6(a)) 160 (107) (3,045) (2,992)

At 31 December 2011 138 (220) – (82)

At 1 January 2012 138 (220) – (82)

(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (note 6(a)) (68) – 1,205 1,137

At 31 December 2012 70 (220) 1,205 1,055

The reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position (479) (237)

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 1,534 155

1,055 (82)



632012 AnnuAl RepoRt 

25. InCoMe tAX In tHe stAteMent oF 
FInAnCIAl posItIon (ContInueD)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 
1(s), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets 
in respect of cumulative tax losses of $30,236,000 
(2011: $26,151,000) as it is not probable that future 
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised 
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdictions and 
entities for the foreseeable future. None of the tax 
losses expire under current tax legislation.

26. eQuIty settleD sHARe-BAseD 
tRAnsACtIons

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the 
“first Share Option Scheme”) for the employees of 
the Group on 6 June 1991 which was subsequently 
amended on 8 June 1999 and expired on 5 June 2001. 
The options under the first Share Option Scheme are 
exercisable for a period of ten years following the date 
of grant. A second share option scheme (the “second 
Share Option Scheme”) of the Company for the 
employees of the Group was adopted on 22 June 2001 
and terminated on 12 May 2003. The options under 
the second Share Option Scheme are exercisable for a 
period of ten years following the date of grant.

A third share option scheme (the “third Share Option 
Scheme”) of the Company was adopted on 12 May 
2003 as an incentive for the Group’s employees and 
business associates. The Directors are authorised, 
at their discretion, to invite any employee, director, 
including executive and non-executive directors or 
business associate of any company in the Group (the 
“Current Participants”) to take up options to subscribe 
for shares in the Company at a price determined by 
the board and notified to each grantee and which will 
not be less than the closing price of the shares on the 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”) 
on the date of offer of the option granted to such 
grantee or the average of the closing prices of the 
shares on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days 
immediately preceding the date of offer of the option 
granted to such grantee or the nominal value of the 
shares, whichever is higher.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which 
options may be granted under the third Share Option 
Scheme and any other Share Option Schemes of the 
Company may not exceed 10 percent of the issued 
share capital of the Company at the date of approval of 
the third Share Option Scheme. The options under the 
third Share Option Scheme are exercisable for a period 
of ten years from the date of grant.

On 24 June 2010, the Company granted 11,700,000 
share options to the Current Part icipants under 
the third Share Option Scheme. Each share option 
entitles the holder to subscribe for one share of $0.25 
of the Company at an exercise price of $2.50. The 
contractual life of these share options is the period 
from the date on which an option certificate is issued 
after acceptance by the grantees and expiring on 30 
June 2016. Among the 11,700,000 share options 
granted, 7,000,000 share options were granted to the 
Directors. Further details are set out in the Company’s 
announcement dated 24 June 2010.
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26. eQuIty settleD sHARe-BAseD tRAnsACtIons (ContInueD)

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the years are as follows, whereby 
all options are settled by physical delivery of shares:

Number of options Vesting conditions Contractual life of options 

Options granted to directors:

– 22 July 2005 3,000,000 Immediate from the date of grant 10 years 

– 19 December 2005 6,000,000 Immediate from the date of grant 10 years 

– 24 June 2010 7,000,000 Exercisable in five equal tranches 
 immediately from 1 July of each 
 year from 2011 to 2015

Expire at the close of 
business on 30 June 2016

Options granted to employees:

– 30 August 2001 96,500 Immediate from the date of grant 10 years 

– 13 September 2002 99,000 Immediate from the date of grant 10 years 

– 6 October 2003 126,000 Immediate from the date of grant 10 years 

– 20 December 2004 1,697,000 Immediate from the date of grant 10 years 

– 24 June 2010 4,700,000 Exercisable in five equal tranches 
 immediately from 1 July of each 
 year  from 2011 to 2015

Expire at the close of 
business on 30 June 2016

Others:

– 30 October 2002 1,000,000 One day from the date of grant 10 years

– 21 December 2004 300,000 Immediate from the date of grant 10 years

– 19 December 2005 3,000,000 Immediate from the date of grant 10 years

(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

2012 2011

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Number 

of options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Number 

of options

Outstanding at the beginning of the year $4.582 26,032,000 $4.508 27,018,500

Exercised during the year $2.500 (50,000) $2.564 (723,000)

Forfeited during the year $7.500 (3,000) $2.529 (263,500)

Lapsed during the year $4.542 (1,099,000) N/A –

Outstanding at the end of the year $4.587 24,880,000 $4.582 26,032,000

Exercisable at the end of the year 18,010,000 16,872,000

There were no options granted during the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: Nil).

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was $3.92 
(2011: $4.99).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2012 had an exercise price which ranged from $2.50 to $7.50 (2011: $2.50 
to $7.50) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.07 years (2011: 3.94 years).
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26. eQuIty settleD sHARe-BAseD tRAnsACtIons (ContInueD)

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is measured by reference to the fair value 
of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share options granted was measured based on 
the Black-Scholes pricing model. The contractual life of the share option and expectations of early exercise were 
incorporated into the Black-Scholes pricing model.

Fair value of and assumptions for share options granted on 24 June 2010

Fair value at measurement date $0.94

Share price $2.50

Exercise price $2.50

Weighted average volatility 43.89% – 50.29%

Weighted average share option life 3.52 – 5.52 years

Expected dividends 0.8%

Risk-free interest rate (based on Exchange Fund Notes) 1.30% – 1.80%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life 
of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available information. 
Expected dividends were based on historical dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions could 
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This condition had not been taken into account in the grant 
date fair value measurement of the services received. There were no market conditions associated with the share 
option grants.

27. CApItAl, ReseRves AnD DIvIDenDs

(a) Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity 
is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s individual 
components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Note

Share 
capital

$’000

Share 
premium

27(d)(i)
$’000

Contributed 
surplus
27(d)(ii)

$’000

Capital 
reserve
27(d)(v)

$’000

Retained 
profits/ 

(accumulated 
losses)

$’000

Total

$’000

Balance at 1 January 2011 80,856 695,336 51,636 13,916 23,210 864,954

Changes in equity for 2011:

Final dividends approved in 
 respect of the previous year 27(b)(ii) – – – – (67,919) (67,919)

Profit and total comprehensive 
 income for the year 10 – – – – 86,338 86,338

Share issued under share 
 option scheme 27(c)(ii) 180 2,246 – (573) – 1,853

Equity settled share-based 
 transactions – – – 3,687 – 3,687

Interim dividend declared in 
 respect of the current year 27(b)(i) – – – – (35,656) (35,656)

Balance at 31 December 2011 81,036 697,582 51,636 17,030 5,973 853,257
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27. CApItAl, ReseRves AnD DIvIDenDs (ContInueD)

(a) Movements in components of equity (continued)

Note

Share 
capital

$’000

Share 
premium

27(d)(i)
$’000

Contributed 
surplus
27(d)(ii)

$’000

Capital 
reserve
27(d)(v)

$’000

Retained 
profits/ 

(accumulated 
losses)

$’000

Total

$’000

Balance at 1 January 2012 81,036 697,582 51,636 17,030 5,973 853,257

Changes in equity for 2012:

Final dividends approved in 
 respect of the previous year 27(b)(ii) – – – – (50,250) (50,250)

Profit and total comprehensive 
 income  for the year 10 – – – – 62,859 62,859

Share issued under share option 
 scheme 27(c)(ii) 13 157 – (45) – 125

Equity settled share-based 
 transactions – – – 2,227 – 2,227

Interim dividend declared in 
 respect of the current year 27(b)(i) – – – – (25,936) (25,936)

Balance at 31 December 2012 81,049 697,739 51,636 19,212 (7,354) 842,282

(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Interim dividend declared and paid of 8.0 cents (2011: 11.0 cents) per share 25,936 35,656

Final dividend proposed after the end of reporting period date of 20.0 cents (2011: 15.5 cents) 
 per share 64,885 50,250

90,821 85,906

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of 
the reporting period.

(ii) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the previous financial year, 
approved and paid during the year

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year, 
 of 15.5 cents (2011: 21.0 cents) per share 50,250 67,919
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27. CApItAl, ReseRves AnD DIvIDenDs (ContInueD)

(c) Share capital

(i) Authorised and issued share capital

2012 2011
No. of 

shares
’000

Amount
$’000

No. of 
shares

’000
Amount

$’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of $0.25 each 400,000 100,000 400,000 100,000

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 324,145 81,036 323,422 80,856

Shares issued under share option scheme 50 13 723 180

At 31 December 324,195 81,049 324,145 81,036

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one 
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual 
assets.

(ii) Shares issued under share option scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2012, options have been exercised to subscribe for 50,000 ordinary shares 
(2011: 723,000 ordinary shares) in the Company at a consideration of $125,000 (2011: $1,853,000) of which 
$13,000 (2011: $180,000) was credited to share capital and the balance of $112,000 (2011: $1,673,000) was 
credited to the share premium account. $45,000 (2011: $573,000) has been transferred from the capital reserve to 
the share premium account in accordance with policy set out in note 1(r)(ii).

(iii) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at the end of the reporting period

Exercise period

Exercise 
price
HK$

2012
Number

2011
Number

13 September 2002 to 12 September 2012 3.905 – 99,000

31 October 2002 to 30 October 2012 4.605 – 1,000,000

6 October 2003 to 5 October 2013 7.350 126,000 126,000

20 December 2004 to 19 December 2014 7.500 1,694,000 1,697,000

21 December 2004 to 20 December 2014 7.450 300,000 300,000

22 July 2005 to 21 July 2015 6.600 3,000,000 3,000,000

19 December 2005 to 18 December 2015 5.730 9,000,000 9,000,000

1 July 2011 to 30 June 2016 2.500 10,760,000 10,810,000

24,880,000 26,032,000

Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company. Further details of these options 
are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.
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27. CApItAl, ReseRves AnD DIvIDenDs 

(ContInueD)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is 
governed by sections 150 and 157 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association and the Companies Act 1981 of 
Bermuda.

(ii) Contributed surplus

The excess value of the shares of the subsidiaries 
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation scheme 
in 1991 over the nominal value of the new shares of 
the Company issued in exchange is credited to the 
contributed surplus account. Under the Companies Act 
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and the Bye-laws of 
the Company, the contributed surplus is distributable to 
shareholders. However, the Directors have no current 
intention to distribute this surplus.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange 
differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The 
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting 
policies set out in note 1(w).

(iv) Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net 
change in the fair value of available-for-sale securities 
held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt with 
in accordance with the accounting policies in notes 1(g) 
and 1(k).

(v) Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of the 
actual or estimated number of unexercised share 
opt ions granted to employees of the Company 
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy 
adopted for share based payments in note 1(r)(ii).

(vi) Other reserves

Other reserves comprise statutory reserves required in 
respect of a subsidiary in accordance with the relevant 
rules and regulations in the PRC and the premium paid 
for the acquisition of non-controlling interests.

(vii) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2012, the aggregate amount of 
reserves available for distribution to shareholders of the 
Company was $44,282,000 (2011: $57,609,000).

On 22 March 2013, a subsidiary of the Company 
declared and approved a dividend of $40,000,000 to 
the Company.

(e) Capital management
The Group’s pr imary object ives when managing 
capi ta l are to safeguard the Group’s abi l i ty to 
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for 
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services 
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing 
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages 
its capital structure to maintain a balance between 
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible 
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages 
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and 
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of 
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis 
of a net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose 
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which 
includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings and 
trade and other payables) plus unaccrued proposed 
dividends, less trading securities and cash and cash 
equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components 
of equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.

Dur ing 2012, the Group’s st rategy, which was 
unchanged from 2011, was to maintain a stable net 
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. In order to maintain or 
adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount 
of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, 
return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing 
or sell assets to reduce debt.
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27. CApItAl, ReseRves AnD DIvIDenDs 

(ContInueD)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 
2012 and 2011 was as follows:

The Group

Note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 437,405 363,751

Bank loans 24 188,217 153,511

625,622 517,262

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans 24 129,304 –

Other payables 1,116 2,214

Total debt 756,042 519,476

Add: Proposed dividends 64,885 50,243

Less: Trading securities 19 (107,578) (138,516)

 Cash and cash  
  equivalents 22 (464,178) (391,479)

Net debt 249,171 39,724

Total equity 1,549,068 1,435,939

Less:  Proposed dividends (64,885) (50,243)

Adjusted capital 1,484,183 1,385,696

Adjusted net debt-to-
 capital ratio 17% 3%

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed 
capital requirements. The Group is subject to certain 
externally imposed capital requirements to maintain the 
value of net assets at a level specified in its bank loan 
covenants (note 24).

28. FInAnCIAl RIsk MAnAgeMent 
AnD FAIR vAlues

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and 
equity price risks arises in the normal course of the 
Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity 
price risk arising from its equity investments in other 
entities.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial 
risk management policies and practices used by the 
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk
The Group’s credit r isk is pr imar i ly attr ibutable 
to cash at bank, deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions, trade and other receivables, 
loans receivable and investments in debt and equity 
securities. Management has a credit policy in place and 
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an 
ongoing basis.

Investments are normally only in liquid securities quoted 
on a recognised stock exchange, except where entered 
into for long term strategic purposes. Given their high 
credit standing, management does not expect any 
investment counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 
Cash at bank and deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions are placed with licensed financial 
institutions with high credit ratings. The Group monitors 
the exposure to each financial institution.

In respect of trade and other receivables, credit 
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring 
credit over a certain amount. The status of the 
receivable is closely monitored to minimise any 
credit risk associated with these receivables. Trade 
receivables are generally due within 60 to 90 days from 
the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain 
collateral from customers.

In respect of loans receivable, the Group reviews 
the borrowers’ f inancial information periodical ly. 
Management considers the credit quality of such loans 
to be good since the borrowers have a good repayment 
history.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly 
by the individual characteristics of each debtor rather 
than the industry or country in which the customers 
operate and therefore signif icant concentrat ions 
of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has 
significant exposure to individual customers. At the end 
of the reporting period, 6% (2011: 7%) and 21% (2011: 
16%) of the total trade and other receivables were due 
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest 
customers respectively.

The max imum exposure to cred i t  r i sk w i thout 
taking account of any collateral held is represented 
by the carrying amount of each financial asset, in 
the statement of financial position after deducting 
any impairment allowance. Except for the financial 
guarantees given by the Group as set out in note 30, 
the Group does not provide any other guarantees 
which would expose the Group or the Company to 
credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in 
respect of these financial guarantees at the end of 
reporting period is disclosed in note 30.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the 
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and 
other receivables are set out in note 21.
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28. FInAnCIAl RIsk MAnAgeMent AnD FAIR vAlues (ContInueD)

(b) Liquidity risk
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, including the short 
term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval 
by the parent company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s 
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that 
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and cash equivalents and adequate committed lines of funding from major 
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of reporting period of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments 
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates currently applicable at the end of reporting period) 
and the earliest date that the Group and the Company can be required to pay:

The Group

2012

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

2011

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
          

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

More than 

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount 

at 31

December

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

More than 

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount 

at 31

December

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-derivative liabilities:

Bank loans 190,612 92,796 38,362 321,770 317,521 153,746 – –` 153,746 153,511

Trade and other 

 payables 437,405 1,116 – 438,521 438,521 363,751 1,107 1,107 365,965 365,965

628,017 93,912 38,362 760,291 756,042 517,497 1,107 1,107 519,711 519,476

The Company

2012

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

2011

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
          

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

More than 

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount 

at 31 

December

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

More than 

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than 

5 years Total

Carrying 

amount 

at 31 

December

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other payables 6,731 – – 6,731 6,731 6,806 – –` 6,806 6,806

Financial guarantees issued:

Maximum amount

 guaranteed (note 30) 190,612 92,796 38,362 321,770 317,521 153,746 – – 153,746 153,511
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28. FInAnCIAl RIsk MAnAgeMent AnD FAIR vAlues (ContInueD)

(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings issued at variable rates which expose the 
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Loans receivable of $82,848,000 (2011: $71,918,000) and held-to-maturity 
debt securities of $24,800,000 (2011: $24,600,000) bear interest at fixed rates and are carried at amortised cost. 
Accordingly, they do not expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk on their interest income or fair value 
interest rate risk on their carrying amounts. In respect of available-for-sale debt securities of $8,712,000 (2011: 
$7,983,000) carried at fair value, they bear fixed interest rates and do not expose the Group to cash flow interest 
rate risk but expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group regularly reviews its strategy on interest rate 
risk management in light of prevailing market conditions.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period:

The Group

2012 2011
Effective 

interest 
rate

% $’000

Effective 
interest 

rate
% $’000

Variable rate borrowings:

Bank loans 1.43 317,521 1.26 153,511

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2012, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with 
all other variables held constant, would have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after taxation and its retained 
profits by approximately $2,651,000 (2011: $1,282,000). Other components of equity would not be materially 
affected by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at 
the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments 
held by the Group. The impact on the Group’s profit after taxation (and retained profits) and other components of 
consolidated equity is estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense of such a change in interest rates. The 
analysis has been performed on the same basis for 2011.

(d) Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases which give rise to receivables, 
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional 
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The Group is also exposed to currency risk through 
bank loans drawn, loans receivable made and other financial assets acquired which are denominated in a foreign 
currency. The currencies giving rise to these risks are primarily United States dollars, Euros, Japanese Yen, Renminbi 
and Korean Won.

There is currently no hedging policy adopted by the Group with respect to its foreign exchange exposure. Most 
of the sales and purchases are made in the respective functional currency of each group entity, except for group 
entities whose functional currency is Hong Kong dollars, certain transactions are denominated in United States 
dollars and Japanese Yen. Given the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the Group do not 
expect that there will be any significant currency risk associated with such United States dollars denominated 
transactions. In respect of balances denominated in other currencies, the Group ensures that the net exposure is 
kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-
term imbalances.
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28. FInAnCIAl RIsk MAnAgeMent AnD FAIR vAlues (ContInueD)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to currency 
risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of 
the entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong 
dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences resulting from the translation of the financial 
statements of operations outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

2012 2011
  

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
United 

States 

Dollars Euros

Japanese 

Yen Renminbi

Korean 

Won

United 

States 

Dollars Euros

Japanese 

Yen Renminbi

Korean 

Won
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

Trade and other receivables 338,125 244 – 3 – 314,635 428 – – –

Other financial assets – – – 24,800 77,979 – – – 24,600 154,979

Loans receivable – – – – 82,848 – – – – 71,918

Cash and cash equivalents 202,779 11,129 4,328 2,825 – 210,055 8,835 16 25,722 –

Trade and other payables (133,037) (323) (90,765) – – (114,819) (228) (63,578) (2) –

Bank loans (160,812) – (37,543) – – (70,452) – (70,559) – –

247,055 11,050 (123,980) 27,628 160,827 339,419 9,035 (134,121) 50,320 226,897

The Company

Other receivables – – – – – – – – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 1,839 – – – – 686 – – – –

Other financial assets – – – – 77,979 – – – – 154,979

Loans receivable – – – – 82,848 – – – – 71,918

1,839 – – – 160,827 686 – – – 226,897

In addition, the Group exposed to currency risk arising from inter-company receivables and payables denominated in 
currency other than the functional currency of either the lender or the borrower. The net inter-company receivables/
(payables) amounted to United States dollars 8,304,000 and Renminbi (164,790,000) (2011: United States dollars 
7,867,000 and Renminbi (119,981,000)).
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28. FInAnCIAl RIsk MAnAgeMent AnD FAIR vAlues (ContInueD)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after taxation (and retained profits) 
and other components of consolidated equity that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has 
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables 
remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United 
States dollar would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United States dollar against 
other currencies for group entities whose functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.

2012 2011
  

Increase/ 
(decrease) 
in foreign 
exchange

 rates

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

in profit 
after taxation 
and retained 

profits

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

in other 
components 

of equity

Increase/ 
(decrease) 
in foreign 
exchange 

rates

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

in profit 
after taxation 
and retained 

profits

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

in other 
components 

of equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

United States dollars 10% 5,912 – 10% 4,715 –

(10)% (5,912) – (10)% (4,715) –

Euros 10% 1,105 – 10% 900 –

(10)% (1,105) – (10)% (900) –

Japanese Yen 10% (10,900) – 10% (12,363) –

(10)% 10,900 – (10)% 12,363 –

Renminbi 10% (15,117) – 10% (7,881) –

(10)% 15,117 – (10)% 7,881 –

Korean Won 10% 8,285 7,798 10% 7,192 15,498

(10)% (8,285) (7,798) (10)% (7,192) (15,498)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects 
on each of the Group entities’ profit after taxation and equity measured in the respective functional currencies, 
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation 
purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied to remeasure those 
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to currency risk at the end of the reporting period. 
The analysis excludes differences that would result from the translation of the financial statements of operations 
outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency. The analysis has been performed on the same basis for 
2011.
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28. FInAnCIAl RIsk MAnAgeMent 
AnD FAIR vAlues (ContInueD)

(e) Equity price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising 
from equity investments classified as trading securities 
(see note 19) and available-for-sale securities (see note 
18). Other than unquoted securities held for strategic 
purposes, all of these investments are listed or with 
quoted market price provided by financial institutions.

Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based 
on daily monitoring of the performance of individual 
securities compared to that of the relevant stock 
indexes and other industry indicators, as well as the 
Group’s liquidity needs. Listed investments held in the 
available-for-sale portfolio have been chosen based on 
their longer term growth potential and are monitored 
regularly for performance against expectations.

The Group’s unquoted investments are held for long 
term strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed 
at least bi-annually against performance of similar listed 
entities, based on the limited information available 
to the Group, together with an assessment of their 
relevance to the Group’s long term strategic plans.

With regards to securities held as trading securities and 
available-for-sale securities, as at 31 December 2012 
it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 3% in the 
relevant stock market index (for listed investments) with 
all other variables held constant would have increased/
decreased the Group’s prof i t after taxat ion and 
retained profits by approximately $2,314,000 (2011: 
$2,673,000). Other components of equity would not be 
materially affected.

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous 
change in the Group’s profit after taxation (and retained 
profits) and other components of consolidated equity 
that would arise assuming that the changes in the 
stock market index or other relevant risk variables had 
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had 
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments 
held by the Group which expose the Group to equity 
price risk at the end of the reporting period. It is also 
assumed that the fair values of the Group’s equity 
investments would change in accordance with the 
historical correlation with the relevant stock market 
index or the relevant risk variables, that none of the 
Group’s avai lable-for-sale investments would be 
considered impaired as a result of the decrease in 
the relevant stock market index or other relevant risk 
variables, and that all other variables remain constant.

The analysis has been performed on the same basis 
for 2011.

(f) Fair values

Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table represents the carrying value of 
the financial instruments measured at fair value at the 
end of the reporting period across the three levels of 
the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial 
instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each 
financial instruments categorised in its entirety based 
on the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair 
value measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

– Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical financial instruments

– Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices 
in active markets for similar financial instruments, 
or using valuat ion techniques in which al l 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly based 
on observable market data

– Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using 
valuation techniques in which any significant 
input is not based on observable market data



752012 AnnuAl RepoRt 

28. FInAnCIAl RIsk MAnAgeMent AnD FAIR vAlues (ContInueD)

(f) Fair values (continued)

Financial instruments carried at fair value (continued)

The Group

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Total
$’000

2012

Assets

Non-listed available-for-sale mutual funds – 6,556 6,556

Listed available-for-sale debt securities 8,712 – 8,712

Listed available-for-sale equity securities 13,672 – 13,672

Trading securities 107,578 – 107,578

129,962 6,556 136,518

The Group

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Total
$’000

2011

Assets

Non-listed available-for-sale mutual funds – 5,209 5,209

Listed available-for-sale debt securities 7,983 – 7,983

Listed available-for-sale equity securities 10,748 – 10,748

Trading securities 138,516 – 138,516

157,247 5,209 162,456

During the year there were no significant transfers between instruments in Level 1 and Level 2.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are 
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 except as follows:

2012 2011
Carrying 
amount

$’000

Fair 
value
$’000

Carrying 
amount

$’000

Fair 
value

$’000

The Group

Held-to-maturity debt securities 24,800 21,018 24,600 21,279
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28. FInAnCIAl RIsk MAnAgeMent 
AnD FAIR vAlues (ContInueD)

(f) Fair values (continued)

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other 
than fair value (continued)

The Group and the Company have no intention of 
disposing of the held-to-maturity debt securities. 
The held-to-maturity debt securities are listed on the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading and the market 
value of the Group’s position of such debt securities as 
at 31 December 2012 is RMB16,950,000 (equivalent 
to $21,018,000) (2011: RMB17,300,000 (equivalent to 
$21,279,000)).

The fair values of non-listed available-for-sale equity 
securities carried at cost and loans receivables carried 
at amortised cost have not been disclosed because 
they do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market. Such investments are stated at cost or 
amortised cost less impairment losses.

(g) Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the major methods and 
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of 
financial instruments.

(i) Securities

Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the 
end of the reporting period without any deduction for 
transaction costs.

(ii) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The fair value is estimated as the present value of 
future cash flows, discounted at current market interest 
rates for similar financial instruments.

(iii) Financial guarantees

The fair value of f inancial guarantees issued is 
determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s 
length transaction for similar services, when such 
information is obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by 
reference to interest rate differentials, by comparing the 
actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee 
is made available with the estimated rates that lenders 
would have charged, had the guarantees not been 
available, where reliable estimates of such information 
can be made.

29. CoMMItMents
(a) Capital commitments outstanding at the end 

of the reporting period not provided for in the 
financial statements were as follows:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Contracted for 87,506 9,793

Authorised but not 
 contracted for 5,639 354,000

93,145 363,793

(b) At 31 December 2012, the total future minimum 
lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases are payable as follows:

The Group
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

Within 1 year 6,542 2,779

After 1 year but within 5 years 8,848 3,646

15,390 6,425

All operating leases are for properties. The leases 
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 5 years, with 
an option to renew the leases when all terms are 
renegotiated. Lease payments are usually increased 
every year to reflect market rentals. None of the leases 
includes contingent rentals.

30. ContIngent lIABIlItIes

Financial guarantees issued
As at the end of the reporting period, the Company 
has issued guarantees to banks in respect of banking 
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Directors 
do not consider it probable that a claim will be made 
against the Company under any of the guarantees. 
The maximum liability of the Company at the end 
of the reporting period under the guarantees issued 
and the facilities drawn down by the subsidiaries is 
$317,521,000 (2011: $153,511,000).

The Company has not recognised any deferred income 
in respect of the guarantees as their fair value cannot 
be reliably measured using observable market data.
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31. MAteRIAl RelAteD pARty tRAnsACtIons

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to the Directors is disclosed in note 7 and 
certain of the highest paid employees is disclosed in note 8.

(b) Recurring transactions
During the year, the Group sold goods amounting to $63,403,000 (2011: $79,169,000) to Data Modul AG, an 
associate of the Group. The Directors of the Company are of the opinion that this related party transaction was 
conducted on normal commercial terms with reference to prevailing market prices, and in the ordinary course of 
business.

(c) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected transactions
None of the above related party transactions falls under the definition of connected transaction or continuing 
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

32. possIBle IMpACt oF AMenDMents, neW stAnDARDs AnD InteRpRetAtIons 
IssueD But not yet eFFeCtIve FoR tHe yeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 2012

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and five new 
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2012 and which have not been adopted in 
these financial statements. These include the following which may be relevant to the Group:

Effective for 
accounting 

periods beginning 
on or after

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures – Transfers of financial assets 1 July 2012

HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2013

HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities 1 January 2013

HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement 1 January 2013

HKAS 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2013

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2009 – 2011 Cycle 1 January 2013

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures 
– Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 1 January 2013

Amendments to HKAS 32, Financial instruments: Presentation 
– Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 1 January 2014

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments 1 January 2015

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments is expected to be 
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2012
$’000

Results:

Continuing operations

Turnover 1,720,512 1,817,172 2,255,851 2,131,410 2,222,380

Profit from operations 60,262 53,255 267,930 187,865 183,530

Finance costs (5,820) (3,514) (3,358) (1,754) (2,096)

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition of an associate 14,861 – – – –

Share of profits less losses of associates (3,330) (21,809) 2,210 8,932 9,341

Profit before taxation 65,973 27,932 266,782 195,043 190,775

Income tax (9,485) (11,212) (46,935) (27,016) (19,940)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 56,488 16,720 219,847 168,027 170,835

Discontinued operation

Loss for the year from discontinued operation (39,779) (285,441) (9,652) – –

Profit/(loss) for the year 16,709 (268,721) 210,195 168,027 170,835

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 15,048 (268,325) 210,496 168,027 170,835

Non-controlling interests 1,661 (396) (301) – –

Profit/(loss) for the year 16,709 (268,721) 210,195 168,027 170,835

Assets and liabilities:

Fixed assets 464,455 359,239 321,029 279,007 518,126

Interest in associates 124,141 99,384 101,905 107,673 113,917

Loans receivable 132,618 123,055 70,201 71,918 82,848

Other financial assets 176,358 182,798 186,083 203,519 131,719

Deferred tax assets 4,898 2,198 213 237 479

Net current assets 659,005 440,917 683,455 775,954 833,933

Total assets less current liabilities 1,561,475 1,207,591 1,362,886 1,438,308 1,681,022

Non-current bank loans (152,666) (37,000) – – (129,304)

Non-current other payables – (4,104) (3,186) (2,214) (1,116)

Deferred tax liabilities (80) (2,282) (3,123) (155) (1,534)

Net assets 1,408,729 1,164,205 1,356,577 1,435,939 1,549,068

Capital and reserves

Share capital 80,856 80,856 80,856 81,036 81,049

Reserves 1,307,076 1,068,524 1,267,223 1,354,659 1,467,775

Amounts accumulated in equity relating 
 to a discontinued operation 6,165 6,026 – – –

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders 
 of the Company 1,394,097 1,155,406 1,348,079 1,435,695 1,548,824

Non-controlling interests 14,632 8,799 8,498 244 244

Total equity 1,408,729 1,164,205 1,356,577 1,435,939 1,549,068

Earnings/(loss) per share (in HK cents)

Continuing operations

 Basic 17.0 5.3 68.1 51.9 52.7

 Diluted 17.0 5.3 68.1 51.3 52.4

Discontinued operation

 Basic (12.3) (88.3) (3.0) – –

 Diluted (12.3) (88.3) (3.0) – –
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Location Existing use Percentage holding

1. Flat G, 22nd Floor, Tower 1,
Yue Man Centre,
Nos. 300 and 302 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
Kwun Tong,
Kowloon

Staff quarters 100%

2. 128 Heyuan Road, Yuancheng District
Heyuan City, Guangdong,
The People’s Republic of China

Industrial 100%

3. Unit 3 Milbanke Court,
Milbanke Way, Bracknell,
Berkshire,
United Kingdom

Office 100%

Note: The above properties are either freehold, held on long or medium-term leases or have no specified lease term.
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